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ABSTRACT:

The aim of this master thesis is to investigate the influence of the compensation contract of Chief Executive Officers (CEOs) of listed companies on earnings management behavior. Because the variable part of compensation seems to become more important the last couple of years and the discussions about justice of big compensations there will always be, it’s interesting to investigate if compensation results in incentives for earnings management. My research is conducted on Dutch and German listed companies in the period of 2005 till 2007. In this research 47 Dutch and 30 German firms are included. I decided to use an estimate of discretionary accruals and a cash flow statement based number as a proxy for earnings management. 

The results of my research are not consistent with results from prior, comparable studies. In contrast to prior studies it is impossible to draw conclusions about the influence the different compensation components can have on earnings management behavior. 
I conclude that a relationship between compensation and earnings management of chief executive officers working in Dutch and German listed firms in this setting is not proven. Take into account the described theory and prior literature I can however expect that the introduction of more performance related compensation components should have positive effects for the organization and are a good step in the right direction.
Rotterdam, 

Erasmus University,

Faculty of Economics & Business, Department Accounting, Auditing & Control

Author: 

Roy Houkes

Supervisor EUR:
Mr. Cor van der Spek RA
Supervisor PwC:
Mr. Leon Blokland 
Table of contents:

· Preface…………………………………………………………………………...
.2
· Abstract………………………………………………………………………….
.3
· Table of contents………………………………………………………………....4
· Chapter 1: Introduction…………………………………………………………6
· Chapter 2: Introduction to Earnings Management……………………………8
2.1.      Introduction…………………………………………………………...8
2.2.      Definitions of earnings management………………………………...8
2.3.      Theoretical background……………………………………………...10
2.4.      Incentives for earnings Management………………………………..12
2.5.      Methods……………………………………………………………......15
2.6.      Detection models……………………………………………………...17
2.7.      Consequences of predicted earnings management………………….22
2.8.      Summary + conclusion……………………………………………..... 23
· Chapter 3: Remuneration structure…………………………………………… 25
3.1.      Introduction…………………………………………………………...25
3.2.      Tournament theory…………………………………………………...26
3.3.      Remuneration structure……………………………………………...26
3.4.      International developments…………………………………………..30
3.5.      National developments………………………………………………..34
3.6.      Summary + conclusion………………………………………………..35
· Chapter 4: Literature review………………………………………...................37
4.1.      Introduction…………………………………………………………..37
4.2.      Remuneration structure and earnings management………………37
4.3.      Hypothesis……………………………………………………………44
· Chapter 5: Research design……………………………………….……………45
5.1.      Introduction………………………………………………………….45
5.2.      Research method…………………………………………………….45
5.3.      Sample………………………………………………………………..52
5.4.      Limitations……………………………………………………….......54
5.5.      Added value………………..…………………………………….......56
5.6.      Empirical results......………………………………………………...56
· Chapter 6: Conclusion + Recommendations………………………………….60
6.1. Introduction……………………………………………………........60
6.2. Summary…………………………………………………………….60
6.3. Conclusion…………………………………………………………...61
6.4. Suggestions for further research…………………………………...62
· References………………………………………………………….……………64
· Appendix A………………………………………………………….………......69
· Appendix B………………………………………………………….………......70
· Appendix C………………………………………………………….………......73
Chapter 1: Introduction

Remunerations will always be an emotive subject. Whether it stems from jealousy or valid arguments, there will always be a discussion about the justice of the level of rewards of top managers. With the increased GAAP for listed companies, including the mandatory publication of remuneration structures of chief executive officers, the last couple of years there is tried to clarify the discussion. Whether the new rules had led to more understanding from society is, given the frequency of articles in media the last couple of months, very doubtful. 

When publishing about the existence and consequences of the credit crisis at the beginning of the year was decreased, the question who was responsible became priority. Most of the time the financial sector and the big earners where seen as guilty.  Primarily as a consequence of short-term bonuses and option packages these managers would act more in their own interest than in interest of the organization. The discussion on the credit crisis mainly focused on the financial sector, but long before the credit crisis questions were put on the sometimes huge amount of remunerations and if they really give the right incentives for managers to handle in the same interest as the organization.

The use of performance-based components in an executive contract has increased a lot last years (see Mercer Research Compensation Guide, 2008). Firms describe this increase in variable remuneration as ‘a way to better align upper management incentives with the interests of shareholders’ (Bergstresser et al. 2006). But there are many recent examples (like Enron) where the compensation contract of managers had let to unwanted behavior, even fraudulent behavior. The question rises if the changing compensation schemes are a good step in the right direction. 

The basic idea behind reporting is to inform users about the actual situation of the company at a given time. Sending profits (and costs) between book years could imply that this proper representation of the reality will be affected. Without the knowledge about the current position of the organization, investors and other parties won’t be able to make the right decisions. On the other side, when managers use their knowledge and skills to present a more realistic picture, a report could be more informative to users. Earnings management will be the second subject which I will discuss. 

Thinking of the increasing variable remuneration and the recent discussions about this compensation, in this paper the main question which will be questioned is if remuneration contracts of chief executive officers will influence earnings management behavior. This question I will investigate using a sample of 77 listed companies spread over two countries during the period 2005 – 2007. To fully answer the main question, the next sub questions I will try to answer in this thesis:

Chapter 2:

1) What means ‘earnings management’?

2) What is the theoretical background of earnings management behavior?

3) What are the incentives for earnings management?

4) How can earnings management be applied?

5) How can earnings management be detected?

6) What are the consequences of earnings management or expected earnings management behavior for managers and organization?
Chapter 3:

7) How does a general remuneration contract look like?

8) What are the different motives for this form of remuneration contract?

9) What are the developments in remuneration?

Chapter 4:

10) What is written and concluded in prior literature about the influence of remuneration contracts on earnings management?

11) What are my expectations based on theory and prior literature?

Chapter 5:

12) Which research method is the best to investigate the main question?

13) Which sample will I need?

14) What is the added value of my research?
15) What are the limitations of my research?
16) What is my conclusion after conducting research?

Chapter 2: Introduction to Earnings Management

2.1. Introduction

Earnings management has always been a fascinating and popular topic in academic literature. Many researchers (for example Dechow et al. (1995), Healy (1998), Peasnell (2000) and Jacob (2007)) have tried to explain the management’s behavior and tried to answer the question if earnings management really exist, and if so, what the economic consequences would be. In the fourth chapter I will discuss the most important contributions to prior literature which related earnings management to compensation, but first I will introduce the subject of earnings management in this chapter. 

Earnings management is mostly seen as some negative management’s behavior, trying to manipulate the figures to mislead investors and other interested parties. The question is if this view is always realistic in practice. In this chapter the basic elements of earnings management will be discussed.  

The remainder of this chapter is organized as follows. I will discuss different definitions of earnings management in the next paragraph, describe theory and the incentives of earning management in the third and fourth paragraph, and discuss the different methods in paragraph five. In paragraph six I will tell something about detecting earnings management. Paragraph seven is used for discussing some consequences. The chapter will be ended with a short summary and conclusions. 

2.2. Definitions of earnings management

In prior literature there are many definitions given of ‘earnings management’. 

One of the first definitions of earnings management is formulated by American accounting researcher and educator, and formal member of the Financial Accounting Standards Board, Katherine Schipper (1989). Schipper defined earnings management as the ‘purposeful intervention in the external financial reporting process, with the intent of obtaining some private gain’. The first two words in bold illustrate that Schipper sees earnings management as an activity with a specific intention. The last words in bold illustrate that Schipper associates earnings management behavior at least to some extent with opportunistic behavior. 

Paul M. Healy and James M. Wahlen in their paper of 1998 tried to summarize the literature about earnings management till that time. Before they discussed their findings they give a, meanwhile very well known, definition of earnings management. ‘Earnings management occurs when managers use judgment in financial reporting and in structuring transactions to alter financial reports to either mislead some stakeholders about the underlying economic performance of the company, or to influence contractual outcomes that depend on reported accounting numbers’ (Healy and Wahlen, 1998).

Like Schipper’s, this definition describes earnings management as negative behavior, either to mislead or influence, linking it to opportunistic and self-interested behavior of management. 

Hervé Stolowy (2004) composed, like Healy and Wahlen, a review of literature about earnings management contributions in prior literature. In his study earnings management is defined as ‘the use of management’s discretion to make accounting choices or to design transactions so as to affect the possibility of wealth transfer between the company and society (political costs), company and funds providers (costs of capital) or company and managers (compensation plans)’. In the first two cases (society and funds providers), Stolowy predicts positive consequences for the company. Management’s discretion should care for lower political costs and lower costs of capital.  In the last case the manager is acting against the firm trying to increase his/her compensation. In Stolowy’s definition both positive as well as negative aspects of earnings management are mentioned.

Besides the mainly negative views about earnings management, there are also some more positive definitions given in prior literature. Following Professor of Accounting Meisod D. Beneish (2001), the intention of earnings management is ‘a means for managers to reveal to investors their private expectations about the firm’s future cash flows’. With this private information investors and also other users, would be able to make better economic decisions. In comparison to Schipper and Healy and Wahlen, Beneish paid more attention to the informative aspect of earnings management than onto the manipulation aspect. 

But also Healy and Wahlen give a short extension to their definition; by mentioning that management could also have intentions to make financial reports “more informative” for users. So also Healy and Wahlen admit there could be informative aspects.

In this master thesis I want to investigate the influence of the remuneration scheme of CEOs onto earnings management behavior. Like I said, earnings management is mostly seen as some managements behavior to manipulate figures in the interest of the managers himself for example to increase (or decrease) earnings most of the time to increase compensation. Other people mentioned the informative aspect where managers can better inform users by using their discretion and knowledge. In this master thesis I will investigate if the contract between manager and organization has some influence on this earnings management’s behavior. If this behavior comes from selfish incentives or incentives which are in line with the organization I don’t find essential.  

2.3. Theoretical background 

The Positive Accounting Theory (PAT) has been one of the most important theories behind external reporting during the last decades. Many articles (for example Watts and Zimmerman 1986 and Milner 2002) have been written about it. The main purpose of a positive theory in general is to describe, explain and predict particular behavior. In this master thesis about earnings management most important will be to investigate the accounting choices made by management. 

The PAT, popularized by Watts and Zimmerman (1986), is based on two important assumptions. The first assumption means that they predict that all individuals are self-interested. The second assumption then predicts that individuals will always act in an opportunistic manner (Deegan, 2006). One important example as a result of the self interested behavior could be to increase compensation. 

Following Deegan, ‘the PAT focuses on relationships between various individuals involved in providing resources to an organization and how accounting is used to assist in the functioning of these relationships’. For example, in this master thesis we are interested in the relationship between the owners (as suppliers of equity capital) and management (as suppliers of managerial labor). Deegan continues: ‘many of these relationships involve the delegation of decision making from one party (the principal or shareholder) to another party (the agent or manager) – this is referred to as an agency relationship’. 

The PAT predicts that, as a consequence of the opportunistic behavior of the individuals, resulted from the self-interested assumption, the organization will always try to put in place mechanisms that have to align the interest of the agents and the principals. An example of one of these mechanisms that will play a central role in this master thesis is the compensation contract for managers, especially for the chief executive officer (CEO). 

One of the theories forthcoming the PAT is the Agency theory. The agency theory predicts that a principal and an agent have different interests in an organization. The principal, for example the shareholder, will strive for value increase of the organization. Following the assumptions of the PAT, the agent, for example the manager, is only interested in his own compensation. As mentioned, a contract between principal and agent should result that both interest are put together. 

With a simple model I will try to illustrate the consequences of the agency theory. The following timeline illustrates the sequence of events:
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Figure 2.1: Timeline agency theory

I will shortly discuss each of the events: 

1) The principal has to approve the performance evaluation which will describe the measures on which the agent’s remuneration will be based. The symbol ‘s’ refers to the compensation function, while symbol ‘y’ refers to the performance measures, which will be included in the contract.

2) On the basis of the chosen performance measures, the agent will decide which action he will take. The symbol ‘a’ refers to these actions. These actions will influence the realizations of the performance measures, and will also influence the outcome of the firm, which is represented by ‘x’ in the formula. 

   3) & 4)   In this model we assume that the outcome of the agent’s actions are 



measurable and observable so the outcome of the firm can be observed. Based 



on this outcome the agent is paid. 

Besides the fact that the agency theory predicts that people are motivated by their own interest, the theory also state that monitoring is necessary. Without monitoring, a good evaluation of the performance of the agent is impossible, which will result in a reduce of the agents’ actions.

It seems clear that the agency theory predicts negative behavior from the manager against the organization. The question is if these expectations agree with the reality. Are managers really acting against the organization all the time? Off course, there are examples of management’s behavior which have led to damage to the organization (Enron, Ahold, Parmalat). But it is difficult to believe that an employee who becomes manager after a long employment will damage the organization to increase compensation. 
2.4. Incentives for earnings management

The large amount of prior literature about earnings management illustrates that the existence of this management’s behavior is noticed. But, although it looks like people know that forms of earnings management exists, it seems to be difficult to prove it with reliable evidence. One of the main reasons for this difficulty is probably that before you are able to mention something about irregular behavior, you have to be familiar with regular behavior. In other words, ‘to identify whether earnings have been managed, researchers first have to estimate earnings before the effects of earnings management’ (Healy and Wahlen 1998). Because the external user will never have all the information needed to undo the discretion of managers, complete knowledge about earnings before earnings management will be almost impossible. Palepu et al (2001) are also having the opinion that ‘it is, of course, virtually impossible to perfectly undo the distortion using outside information alone. However some progress can be made in this direction by using the cash flow statement and the notes to the financial statements’ (Palepu et al). The use of the cash flow statement I will also discuss in subparagraph 2.6.2.
One possible solution in detecting earnings management, and often used in prior earnings management literature, is making use of the management’s incentives for earnings manipulation, and using this outcome to investigate possible discretionary variables making it possible for managers achieving these incentives. In this paragraph we will try to understand the incentives for using some form of earnings management. 

2.4.1. Healy and Wahlen
Healy and Wahlen (1998) discussed three different kinds of incentives, many times examined in prior literature. These three motivations include: (1) capital market motivations, (2) political costs motivations, and (3) contracting motivations.

I. Capital market motivations: 

For predicting the profitability and (future) performance of a particular organization, investors and other interested parties make use of all available information. Accounting information published by the organization is one of this information where the decision will be based on. The knowledge that outside parties will make use of accounting information when making decisions could give management incentives to manipulate this information to achieve some objectives. For example, to increase results and stock prices to become more attractive for investors, or to decrease results to temper expectations to become more attractive in future. 

II. Political costs motivations:

A second incentive for management’s discretional judgment mentioned by Healy and Wahlen has to do with the size of the company. Theory predicts that larger companies have higher incentives than smaller companies to manipulate the figures because the larger the company the more attention the company attracts from public. Not this attention, which could also has positive effects, but the consequence that questions will be raised in times of high profits or losses, could be an incentive for management to make use of earnings management to avoid these peaks. 
III. Contracting motivations:

As I tried to explain when I discussed the PAT and the related agency theory, a consequence of the assumed opportunistic behavior of individuals, resulted from the self-interest behavior, is that the organization will always try to put in place mechanisms that have to bring together the interests of management and the organization. In paragraph 2.6 this will also be further discussed. In practice it’s common that accounting data will play a central role in monitoring the behavior of management and regulating the contractual relation between principal and agent. ‘A management compensation contract could be used to align the incentives of management and external stakeholder’ (Healy and Wahlen). Watts and Zimmerman (1978) argued that these contracts will motivate management for influencing accounting data which will increase their compensation because it is almost impossible for owners to deny the manipulated figures and take decision based on the unaffected figures.

In the next chapter the different parts of the remuneration scheme of management will be discussed. These different parts will cause different management incentives and are putt in place to better align the interests of management and the organization. The different motivations and reasons for this structure will be discussed in the next chapter.

2.4.2. Palepu et al. 
More recently than Healy and Wahlen, Palepu et al (2007) enumerated a list of incentives for managers’ discretion in reporting. Following Palepu et al. managers have a variety of incentives:
a) Accounting-based debt covenants;  

‘Managers may make accounting decisions to meet certain contractual obligations in their debt covenants’ (Palepu et al. 2007). For example, when firms have lending agreements with banks which require them to meet ratios, management could have incentives to manipulate them. 
b) Management compensation;

When compensation is largely based on short-term results, managers could have incentives to increase results which results in an increase of their compensation.

c) Corporate control contests;

‘In corporate control contests competing management groups attempt to win over the firm shareholders. Accounting numbers are used extensively in debating managers’ performance in contests. Therefore, managers may make accounting decisions to influence investor perceptions in corporate control contests’ (Palepu et al. 2007). Manipulating accounting numbers could influence investor perceptions. 
d) Tax considerations; 

‘Managers may also make reporting choices to trade off between financial reporting and tax considerations. Some firms may forgo the tax reduction in order to report higher profits in their financial statements’ (Palepu et al. 2007)

e) Capital market considerations

Capital market incentives I already discussed when discussing the incentives of Healy and Wahlen, see page 14. 
f) Stakeholder considerations

‘Managers may make accounting decision to influence the perception of important stakeholders in the firm’ (Palepu et al. 2007). By presenting better results than expected, the perception of the stakeholder improves.
2.5. Methods

Roughly two main sorts of opportunities for management to influence accounting information are discussed in prior literature. In fact there are three, but I will only pay attention to behavior within the laws set by accounting setters and government. This decision excludes fraudulent behavior. The two remaining main sorts are: (1) pure accrual-based accounting and (2) real economic transactions. I will first introduce accounting-based management, followed by a description of real transaction-based management (also called ‘real earnings management’). 

2.5.1. Accounting-based management   
Prior literature about earnings management almost always focuses on the management’s use of discretionary accruals. Such researches make use of a model that estimates the discretionary component of reported income. In paragraph 2.6. examples of these accrual-based detecting models will be discussed. Following Dechow and Skinner (2000) accruals management involves ‘within-GAAP choices that try to “obscure” or “mask” true economic performance’. Within-GAAP choices illustrates that the choices are legal and that management keep a kind of freedom to operate within the boundaries of the standards. 

‘Total accruals are defined as the difference between net income and cash flow from operations’ (Dechow et al. 1995). These accruals can be further divided in two types: (1) the expected accruals (referred as non-discretionary) and (2) the unexpected accruals (referred as discretionary). Non-discretionary accruals are accruals that arise from transactions that are common for the company given the economic facts. These accruals are supposed to be non-manageable by management. Discretionary accruals however, are accruals that arise from accounting choices made by management and are supposed to be manageable. ‘The main purpose of discretionary accruals is to manage earnings’ (Ronen, Yaari, 2008).

‘One of the fundamental features of corporate financial reports is that they are prepared using accrual accounting rather than cash accounting. Unlike cash accounting, accrual accounting distinguished between the recording of costs and benefits associated with economic activities and the actual payment and receipt of cash’ (Palepu et al 2007). The difference between cash accounting and accrual accounting makes it possible for management to manipulate earnings or costs. The difference between accrual accounting and cash accounting also played a role in the choice of the models for detecting earnings management, see paragraph 2.6. 
Examples of accounting-based methods of earnings management are switching from LIFO to FIFO for inventory valuation, or the timing of adoption of new accounting standards. 

2.5.2. Real transaction-based management

Real transaction-based management or real earnings management doesn’t involve accounting choices made by management. Katherine Gunny (2005) defines real earnings management as ‘when managers undertake actions that deviate from the first best practice to increase reported income’. 

One of the main differences between real earnings management and accounting-based earnings management is that real earnings management is accomplished ‘by changing the firm’s underlying operations’ (Gunny, 2005). 

Some examples of real earnings management are (Gunny):

(1) cutting prices towards the end of the year in effort to accelerate sales from the next fiscal year into the current year

(2) delaying desirable investments

(3) selling fixed assets to affect gains and losses

These three examples illustrate that real earnings management is done most of the time to boost current earnings, at the expense of future earnings. The question raise why real earnings management still exist even thought accounting based management may be less costly, taking future firm value into consideration.  An argument could be that it’s relative easy to do, and the short-term results will have a direct impact on compensation for example. 

2.6. Detecting models
In this paragraph I will discuss two approaches which I followed to detect earnings management. Subparagraph 2.6.1. will discuss approaches which are based on the balance sheet, and which are most used in prior literature. In the previous paragraph the cash flow statement came up twice, which makes it interesting to also pay attention to detecting models more based on the cash flow statement. These models will be discussed in subparagraph 2.6.2.
2.6.1. Balance sheet approach

In the previous paragraph I mentioned that existing literature almost always focus on accounting-based earnings management. Such researches make use of a detecting model that predicts the discretionary part of reporting income. Existing detecting models differs in simple models in which discretionary accruals are measured as total accruals, or more complicated models that try to separate the total accruals into non-discretionary accruals and discretionary accruals. In this paragraph I will shortly discuss the development of a selection of the most important detecting models used in prior literature. For this summary I made use of the article of Dechow et al. (1995), which enumerated different detecting models. Further details, like formulas, about the models can be found in this article. 

Healy (1985) was one of the first researchers who tried to detect earnings management ‘by comparing mean total accruals (scaled by total assets) across the earnings management portioning variable’ (Dechow et al.). Healy’s study was different from earlier studies because he predicted that systematic earnings management occurred in every period. Healy measured the non-discretionary accruals with the mean total accruals from a particular period, without making a distinction between discretionary and non-discretionary. Healy concluded that these bonus schemes really create incentives for earnings management. Healy found a strong association between the ‘accruals and managers’ income-reporting incentives under their bonus contracts’ (Healy). Healy concluded that managers with binding income bounds prefer to use income-decreasing accruals; while they use income-increasing accruals when bounds are not binding, which means that their income is not limited. 
The DeAngelo Model (1986) can be seen as a special case of the Healy Model, in which the estimation period for non-discretionary accruals is focused on the previous year’s observation (Dechow et al.). Healy and DeAngelo both made use of total accruals to measure non-discretionary accruals. The problem with these two models was that they didn’t make a further distinction for the total accruals. When the non-discretionary part changes from period to period, the models of Healy and DeAngelo will predict the non-discretionary accruals with some degree of error. The assumption that non-discretionary parts remain constant over time is many times doubted in prior literature. In secondary research Kaplan (1985) pointed out that in his opinion ‘the nature of the accrual accounting process dictates that the level of non-discretionary accruals should change in response to changes in economic circumstances’ (Dechow). 

In contrast to Healy and DeAngelo, J.J. Jones (1991) didn’t predict that non-discretionary accruals remain constant over time. Her model attempted to react on the critics of Kaplan, by taken into account the effects of economic circumstances on non-discretionary accruals. The following model illustrates the original Jones model:
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The non-discretionary part can be calculated by using the following formula for total accruals (TA):

[image: image5.emf]
Figure 2.2: Jones Model

An important assumption in this Jones Model is that the total revenues are non-discretionary (Dechow et al.). Jones recognized and admit this limitation of her model when earnings are managed. 

The weak part of the mentioned original Jones model that an important assumption is that revenues are non-discretionary let to a modification of this model. The modification of the Jones model ‘is designed to eliminate the conjectured tendency of the Jones model to measure discretionary accruals with error when discretion is exercised over revenues’ (Dechow et al.). 
The following model illustrated the modified-Jones model:
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where

AREC_ = net receivables in year T less net receivables in year T-1 scaled by total assets at 1-1.




Figure 2.3: Modified-Jones model

You can see that the only adjustment in this above equation in comparison with the original Jones model is that the change in receivables is implemented and subtracted from total revenues. This modified version assumes, in contrast to the original version, that all changes in credit sales are the result from earnings management behavior. Although the Modified-Jones model is an often used detecting model in prior literature, it is not free from criticism. This criticism is mainly based on the fact that when the discretionary accruals have to be determined, measurement errors could arise due to omitted variables in the model. ‘McNichols (2000) therefore proposes to use a single accrual model, rather than an aggregate accrual model (like the Modified-Jones model)’ (Blok 2007). 

Instead of the Jones model, a single accrual model just focuses on one discretionary element of an accrual item. One example is the focus on bad debt provisions. The use of single accrual model would result in a better understanding about which items are used for earnings management.  
Peasnell et al. (2000) predicted abnormal accruals as the residual from a linear regression of

working capital accruals on current sales and current cash receipts from customers (i.e.,

current sales minus the current change in accounts receivable). In contrast to earlier models, however, the variables used in this Margin Model are derived from a model linking sales, accruals and earnings. The base for the Margin Model is the working capital. Just three parts of this working capital are modeled: stocks (Δ Stock), debtors (Δ Debt) and creditors (Δ Credit). Then the working capital accruals are defined as WCA = Δ Stock + Δ Debt - Δ Credit + Other. 

Primary advantage of the Margin Model is that it would lead to improved economic intuition. But, Peasnell et al. also admit that the standard Jones Model and Modified Jones Model are more powerful because the variable used in the Margin Model, REV, ‘may itself contaminated by earnings management’ (Peasnell et. al). 

Previous research examined the specification and power of various discretionary accrual models (for example Dechow et al.), but not that of performance-matching accrual models. Kothari et al. (2005) examined properties of discretionary accruals adjusted for a performance-matching firm's discretionary accrual, where matching is on the basis of a firm’s return on assets and industry membership. The linear-performance-matching model embodies two modifications of the Jones and the modified Jones models: an intercept, and an additional control for the lagged rate of return on assets. Their motivation to use ROA as the matching variable is caused by the fact that they suggest that ROA controls for the effect of performance on measured discretionary accruals. This model of Kothari is called the performance-matching Jones model, since it is similar to the Jones and modified-Jones models, except that it is augmented to include ROAit or ROAit−1. Kothari suggest that this model might provide stronger results for earnings management. 

2.6.2. The non-articulation problem

The detecting models described in the previous subparagraph are examples of the ones which are most used in studies which relate earnings management to particular events, like CEO changes or share issues. ‘A majority of these studies use an indirect balance sheet approach to calculate accruals. These balance sheet approaches rely on the presumed articulation between changes in working capital balance sheet accounts and accrual components of revenues and expenses on the income statement’ (Collins and Hribar 2002). This presumed articulation will disappear when non-operating and irregular activities occur, which will have an impact on the figures of the company. Examples of such events are mergers and acquisitions, foreign currency translations and divestitures

Collins and Hribar in their paper tried to assess the error when studies make use of the indirect balance sheet approach to estimate accruals, instead of using cash flow statement information in case of irregular activities. To provide evidence for the articulation problem, they first calculate accruals using the balance sheet approach, followed by two definitions of accruals directly calculated using the cash flow statement. The first measure captures total accruals and is defined as follows:
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where  TAcf = measure for earnings management
EBXIi,t  = reported earnings before extraordinary items and discontinued operations 

CFOi,t = operating cash flow from continuing operations

Ai,t-1 = total assets at the beginning of the year

‘The second measure of accruals includes only the changes in the working capital accounts plus depreciation expenses’ (Collins and Hribar). The second measure is defined as follows:
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where
ACCcf  = measure for earnings management


CHGARcf = decrease/increase in accounts receivable


CHGINVcf = decrease/increase in inventory


CHGAPcf = decrease/increase in accounts payable


CHGTAXcf = decrease/increase in taxes payable


CHGOTHcf = net change in other current assets


DEPcf = depreciation expense

‘All of these mentioned variables are taken from the operating section of the statement of cash flows and, hence, are not affected by non-operating changes in these accounts’ (Collins and Hribar). 

Collins and Hribar’s main findings were that errors that resulted from using the balance sheet estimation approach of accruals rather than cash flow statement information can lead to influenced computations of (discretionary) accruals, and can lead to conclusions that earnings management exist when in fact no earnings management is present. In other words, in case of many non-operating activities, Collins and Hribar have the opinion that the balance sheet is not suitable to use in the calculation of accruals because the balance sheet will be affected by non-operating activities. This could lead to conclusions that earnings management exist, when in fact it doesn’t. 
2.7. Consequences of predicted earnings management
Like we did in the second paragraph, long-time ago Jensen et al (1976) defined an agency relationship as ‘a contract under which one or more persons (the principal(s)) engage another person (the agent) to perform some service on their behalf which involves delegating some decision making authority to the agent’. And when both the principal and the agent try to maximize their utility, there is a good change that the agent will not always act in the best interest of the principal. In this paragraph I will mention the consequences of predicted earnings management behavior from the agent.

Jensen et al. continued by stating that ‘the principal can limit divergences from his interest by establishing appropriate incentives for the agent and by incurring monitoring costs designed to limit the aberrant activities of the agent’. 

(1) Establishing appropriate incentives and (2) incurring monitoring costs I’d like to discuss further. To ensure that the agent will act more in the interests of the firm he must have appropriate incentives which make it attractive for him. A compensation contract is one of the solutions, which plays a central role in this master thesis. A compensation contracts can guarantee the manager an extra bonus when some objectives are achieved.  
But before a contract between principal and agent could be effective, the actions of the agent have to be monitored. Without such control, following theory, the agent will not fully act in the interests of the principal because he can always sabotage without to be detected. The manager will try to achieve the objectives to receive the bonus by manipulating figure. So the principal will have to make costs (monitoring costs) to observe agent’s actions.

Another type of costs are bonding costs. In contrast to the monitoring costs, the agent is responsible for these costs. Just like the principal, the agent could have incentives to enter into a contract, where he has to sacrifice some of his rewards. These bonding costs however, could give the agent some safety that he will not lose his job for example.

Another type of costs as a consequence of an agency relationship are the costs which arise as a result of the divergence between agent’s decisions and the decisions which the principal would make to maximize utility, even given optimal monitoring costs and bonding costs activities by both the agent and principal. These costs are called ‘the residual losses’ 

It becomes clear that it is almost impossible to ensure that the agent will not make optimal decisions for the principal, without taking some costs into account. Summarizing, we could define the costs as a consequence of an agency relationship (agency costs) as the sum of:

· Monitoring costs by principal

· Bonding costs by the agent

· Some residual loss

2.8. Summary + conclusion

In this chapter I gave an introduction about the basic elements of earnings management. In prior literature many definitions are given of earnings management; most of the time they associate earnings management with misleading or manipulating figures by the management. Other researchers are more focused onto the informative aspect of earnings management. In this thesis I want to investigate if the contract between organization and manager has influence on earnings management, it’s difficult to judge in whether earnings management is right or wrong. 
The theoretical background for earnings management is the Positive Accounting Theory and the Agency Theory. The PAT we use to investigate the accounting choices made by management. The theory has two important assumptions. The first assumption predicts that all individuals are self-interested, and as a result of this the agent will act in an opportunistic behavior. The agency theory links these assumptions to a principal-agent environment, where as a consequence the agent (manager) and principal (shareholder) will have different interest in the organization. With the use of a compensation contract and the presence of monitoring both interests will come together. 

The large amount of literature illustrates that the existence of earnings management is noticed. Because of the difficulty of observing earnings before managers’ discretion, detecting earnings management is mostly done by making use of the management’s incentives. Important motivation for earnings management are capital market motivation, tax motivations, political cost, and management compensation. This master thesis focuses on the last one. 

There are many forms of earnings management, but in prior literature most attention is paid to the real earnings management or accrual based management. Because financial reports are prepared using accrual accounting rather than cash accounting, some manager’s discretion is possible. In this thesis I will focus on the accrual-based management because of similar studies which also used this method, which I can use to compare the results. 
To detect earnings management researchers make use of detecting models. The modified-Jones model is an often used and widely accepted model which makes a distinction into discretionary and non-discretionary parts of accruals and assumes that all changes in credit sales are the result from earnings management behavior, while the original Jones model assumed that revenues are non-discretionary. Collins and Hribar criticized the use of the modified-Jones model (and other mentioned detecting models which are based on balance sheet numbers) by arguing that in times of irregular events, like mergers and acquisitions, the presumed articulation between changes in working capital balance sheets accounts and accrual components of revenues and expenses on the income statement doesn’t exist. In other words, in times of many non-operating activities, Collins and Hribar have the opinion that the balance sheet is not suitable to use in the calculations of accruals and to draw conclusions about the existence of earnings management, because there is no comparison possible between book-years. Following Collins and Hribar, using the Modified-Jones model to draw conclusions about earnings management can lead to influenced computations of (discretionary) accruals and to conclusions that earnings management exist when in fact it doesn’t. 
In the next chapter I will pay attention to the remuneration contract of CEOs. To ensure that the manager and organization will have the same interest, different components of compensation exist, each with his own intentions. 

Chapter 3: Remuneration structure

3.1. Introduction

During the last couple of months the discussion about executive remunerations did increase after the publications in the media about high salaries or bonuses for top executives. Especially taking the consequences of the credit crisis into consideration, the people raised questions about the justice of these compensations. Most attention was paid to the distribution of bonuses, normally provided after reaching some superior performance. With the disappointed results for most companies, sometimes followed by a capital injection from government, people didn’t feel executives earned these bonuses. Some people even were on the opinion that the compensation structure was one of the sources of the origins of the credit crisis. 
The purpose of my master thesis is to investigate if earnings management behavior is influenced by the remuneration structure of executive officers. In the second chapter I paid attention to some theoretical background of earnings management; I described the PAT and the Agency Theory. We learned that the agency theory predicts that the organization as a result of the expected opportunistic managers’ behavior will always try to put in place contracts to bring the interests of management and organization together. One important example of such contracts is the remuneration contract for chief executive officers to provide executives with a share of the organizations profit after reaching particular objectives. 

In this chapter I will pay attention to these remuneration contracts and will discuss which incentives they have to give to management.  

The remainder of this chapter is organized as follows. I will discuss some theory behind remunerations within firms in the next paragraph. The structure of the remuneration with the different parts of compensation and its own incentives will be discussed in the third paragraph. I will describe the international developments in paragraph four; the national developments will be discussed in the fifth paragraph. The chapter will be ended with a short summary and conclusions. 

3.2. Tournament theory

For people who tried to follow the discussions about the executives’ remunerations the last couple of months it may seem like not much thought has been put behind the set-up of the management contracts. Although most operating results were disappointed, top managers still received large compensations. But theory exists about how a compensation contract should be implemented most efficiently. One such theory about executive compensation is the Tournament Theory. Mainly based on the articles of Lazear and Rosen (1981) and Eriksson (1999) I will try to explain this theory before I will describe the individual parts of the structure and the international and national developments of these remuneration structures. 
The model consists of two identical players where the player’s output depends on the degree of effort and a random factor. ‘The tournament theory predicts that there will be an increasing ratio of pay as the individuals move up along the corporate ladder. This is because the value of winning not only is the winner’s prize at that level but also includes the value of the possibility to compete for larger prizes at higher prizes’ (Eriksson). 

However, at the final level of the CEO, the position which plays a central role in this thesis, there is no higher level you can reach. As a consequence, the CEO should be given an extra prize to motivate him/her to bear the risks and responsibilities which belong to the CEO position. One possible extra prize is a high fixed salary and some variable components. 

Another well known argument for the compensation of top managers is the position against competitors. To keep the function attractive for outsiders the organization has to offer good compensations. 

3.3. Remuneration structure

Although there are differences in remuneration among companies, basically an executive pay package consists of three basic components: (1) a fixed salary, (2) a short-term bonus tied to performance, and (3) long-term incentive plans (Murphy, 1998). Besides that the managers receive some compensation for other expenses, like company car for example. These costs are excluded from the research because the amounts are not material. In my research I will use the same subdivision as Murphy to investigate the relation between the remuneration structure and earnings management. 

‘If managerial performance was easy to measure, devising an efficient compensation contract would merely involve finding an optimal allocating of risk-sharing between the owners and managers. Because such measurement is both difficult and expensive, however, the choice of the form in which executives are to be compensated becomes a potentially important issue for shareholders. An effective pay package will minimize the costs of the agency relationship between owners and manager’ (Lewellen et al, 1987).

The above citation from Lewellen mentioned the important characteristics of the agency theory (difficult measurement of managerial performance) and it’s implications for the remuneration. The main reason for the adoption of different components is the different incentives they have to give to executives. The agency theory predicts different interests between organization and executives; the different parts of compensation structure have to provide incentives for executives to keep act in interest of the firm. ‘Some of the components are aimed at reducing differences in time horizons, and others differences in risk exposure’ (Lewellen). In the next subparagraphs I will discuss the different components and the developments over time. 

3.3.1. Fixed salary

Chief executive officers receive, like any other employee, a fixed salary at the end of the period independent by the performance of the organization. These base salaries are most of the time determined through competitive benchmarking where the manager’s salary is compared to other companies. In the annual report, management is forced to provide insights into this comparison between different organizations. These companies could be competitors in the same industry, or comparable companies in firm size and structure, like other listed companies. 
The base salary, because of his fixed character, will provide fewer incentives for earnings management in my opinion than the variable part of compensation. Because extraordinary performance won’t increase (or decrease) the level of base salary in first instance, manipulation of the figures won’t make many result. 

But this doesn’t mean there will be no incentives at all. One possible positive incentive could be that the manager with a large base salary doesn’t want to lose his job, by presenting good company results they want to impress the organization they perform well.  
But also negative incentives for earnings management could exist. Gao and Shrieves predicted and found in their sample that managers have an incentive to minimize earnings management when their compensation is solely based on fixed components. Minimizing earnings management would mean less monitoring and bonding costs (see the previous chapter) which costs reduce the compensation. When the organization doesn’t have to make these costs, the idea is that this will increase compensation of management. 
But in general, the variable components of the remuneration schema probably give more incentives for management for earnings management. 

3.3.2. Short-term incentives

Nowadays, almost every listed company offers executives an annual bonus based on a single-years performance. In fact, the variable part of the remuneration has become almost more important than the fixed part. Most important incentive provided by annual bonuses is to increase company profits. Because the primary determinant of the annual bonus is most of the time the accounting profit, an increase in profits will result in an increase in the annual bonus of the CEO. In the annual reports however the organization has to report the maximum bonus amount (as percentage of the base salary) which the executive can receive. 

‘The formulae and variable definitions used in bonus schemes vary considerably between firms and even within a single firm across time. Nonetheless, there are common features of these contracts. They typically define a variant of reported earnings and an earnings target or lower bound for use in bonus computations’ (Healy 1985). 

However, beside the incentive to increase profits, most bonus plans could result in additional incentives, most of the time conflicting with stated company objectives. First, because accounting profits is backward looking and are very based on the short run, managers purely focused on increasing accounting profits may avoid actions that increase future profitability, but reduce current profitability. One example is cutting research and development (R&D) expenditures to increase current profitability. ‘The time horizon relevant to shareholders, however, is in principle unlimited since all future residual cash flows the firm is expected to generate should be impounded in share prices’ (Lewellen). 

Second, literature about earnings management predicts that earnings could be manipulated, either through accounting-based management (par 2.4.1.) or real transactions-based management (par 2.4.2.). Bonuses distributed based on manipulated earnings could not be in the interest of the organization. 
So the distribution of short-term bonuses has positive and negative points. 
3.3.3. Long-term incentive plans (LTIP)

The mentioned negative consequences of the short-term bonuses based on actual performance had let to the increasing use of long-term incentive plans. ‘In contrast to annual bonus plans based on annual performance, LTIP are basically based on rolling-average three or five-year cumulative performance’ (Murphy). 

Long term incentive plans most of the time consists of the distribution of stock options and of performance shares. 

‘Stock options are contracts which give the recipient the rights to buy a share of stock at a pre-specified price for a pre-specified term’ (Murphy 1998). 

‘Performance shares are similar to performance units in that performance goals are established in terms of accounting numbers over award periods of multiple years. However, instead of being allocated units of fixed value at the beginning of the award period, the executive is allocated a number of shares’ (Smith, 1982)

The performance of the executive, most of the time related to profits and some non-financial measures, and the different criteria set, determine the quantity of shares/options the executive gets distributed. In contrast to the short term bonus, performance is based on multiple years. 

Organizations defend their distribution of (large) long-term incentives plans by mentioning that it helps executives to act more in interest of the company, which is also in the advance of shareholders. Because of the variable compensation, LTIP’s would give management incentives for earnings management. But because the compensation is received after some years, the incentive caused by LTIP probably will be less then by annual bonuses. 

3.4. International developments

After describing the standard remuneration structure, in the next two paragraphs I will illustrate the (inter)national development of the different parts. In this paragraph I will discuss the international developments; the next paragraph will handle the national context. 

Hay Group (‘global management consulting firm’) carried out a study to investigate the rewards for chief executives and non-executive chairman. I will only pay attention to the rewards for the CEOs. Hay Group’s sample consisted of the 50 largest European and American organizations, measured by market capitalization. Hay Group made a distinction between fixed salary, annual bonus, and long-term incentives; the same distinction I want to use in my research. 

In the next subparagraphs I will describe the developments per component. Because the research of Hay Group is based on 2006 figures, the percentages could be something different in 2005 en 2007, but the overall trend will be present in all 3 years. 

3.4.1. Total remuneration

The median for the European CEOs’ total reward is about EUR 5 million. In the United States, this amount is much higher; almost 13 million (converted to Euros). Also in Europe itself large differences exist between countries (EUR 6 million and EUR 3 million for CEOs in respectively France and The Netherlands). See the following figure for details: 
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Figure 3.1: CEOs’ total compensation

An incentive for earnings management forthcoming the total reward is in line with the incentive for the fixed salary. Managers with a large total remuneration in comparison with competitors or subordinates will try to keep their job by showing they perform well. 
However, the CEO’s total reward won’t give us the information about possible incentives for CEO’s for using earnings management that we get from the individual parts, which I will describe next. 

3.4.2. Fixed salary

The median for the European CEOs’ fixed salary is EUR 1,3 million. In the United States this amount is almost EUR 1,1 million. If we look to the individual European countries, both CEOs active in Germany as well as in the Netherlands receive a lower fixed salary then the average in Europe. See the following figure for details:
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Figure 3.2: CEOs’ fixed salary

3.4.3. Short-term incentive

A big difference exists between the median of annual bonuses for European CEOs and CEOs working in the United States. Where the bonus for CEOs in Europe is 1,3 times the fixed salary, CEOs working in the United States receive by average 3 times their fixed salary. Big differences also exist in Europe itself; see the following figure for the details.
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Figure 3.3: CEOs’ short-term incentives as a percentage of fixed salary

The differences between the countries could imply that differences exist in incentives for earnings management. Because the annual bonus most of the time is based on annual profit, following the theory of earnings management you could expect that the CEO working in  Germany have more incentives for manipulating yearly profits than those working in the Netherlands, because in Germany an increase in profit will result in a higher percentage change in compensation. 

The mentioned differences in annual bonus between Germany and the Netherlands are confirmed by the data from my sample (details about the sample will be discussed in paragraph 5.3.). Also in my sample I observed big differences between the remunerations in the Netherlands and Germany (see following figures) when we look to the ratio fixed versus annual compensation. In Germany the vertical difference between the fixed salary (blue line) and the annual bonus (red line) is much bigger then in the Dutch sample, which implies that at a given fixed salary, the annual bonus for the manager in Germany is a lot higher in comparison to a manager working in the Netherlands. 
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Figure 3.4: Fixed salary versus annual bonus Dutch CEOs

[image: image12.emf]Fixed salary versus annual bonus German CEOs

0

1.000.000

2.000.000

3.000.000

4.000.000

5.000.000

6.000.000

Compensation in €

Fixed salary

Annual bonus


Figure 3.5: Fixed salary versus annual bonus German CEOs

3.4.4. Long-term incentives

The median of the LTIP for the European CEOs is 120% of the fixed salary. In comparison with the United States this amount is very low. CEOs working in the United States receive a median of long-term bonus of almost 6 times their fixed salary. A striking contrast exists between the long-term bonus and short-term bonus offered in Germany. Where CEOs in Germany receive relative a large annual bonus; they receive only a small bonus based on long-term performance. In the Netherlands, managers receive an average level of LTIP’s. 
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Figure 3.6: CEOs’ long-term incentives as a percentage of fixed salary

Like the results of the short-term bonus, these big differences between countries could mean different incentives for earnings management. Because the LTIP in the Netherlands is in comparison with other countries (except Germany) quite small, you would expect fewer incentives for earnings management from LTIP. Because the striking contrast between the short-term and long-term part of compensation of German CEO’s, managers working in Germany could have fewer incentives for earnings management from LTIPs in comparison with STIP. 

3.5. National developments

Hewitt Associates (‘human resource consultant’), in cooperation with the (State) University of Groningen, carried out a study (rapport “Op zoek naar de juiste balans”) to investigate the compensation policy for the Board of Management at 70 big listed Dutch companies during the period 2002 – 2005. This research was intended to determine the actual rewards for Dutch executives. By means of an update report in 2007 and 2008 Hewitt Associates did describe, in cooperation with the Erasmus University of Rotterdam, the developments in respectively 2006 and 2007. 

Although it’s not my intention for the research to take conclusions per individual years, it could be interesting to understand the national developments of remuneration as well. 

In the next subparagraphs I will shortly describe the developments of the individual parts of compensation and total remuneration.

3.5.1. Total remuneration 

The compensation of the total remuneration in the Netherlands has changed during 2005 – 2007. The base salary in 2007 is just 25% of the total remuneration, 35% is a short-term bonus, and the remaining 40% is based on long-term performances. In comparison, in 2005 all the components had 33 1/3 %. The fact that the majority of compensation is based on variable performance could results in strong influence of earnings management. 
3.5.2. Fixed salary

A relative increase in variable compensations between 2005 – 2007 automatically results in a relative decrease of the fixed salary. In reel terms the fixed salary almost remains the same. Not surprisingly because the amount are based on signed agreements. 

3.5.3. Short-term incentive

As mentioned, the annual bonus represented almost 35% of the total compensation of the CEO in 2007. On average the value of the bonus for the CEO increased in 2007 with 12,1% (in 2006: an increase with 20%). The annual bonus as percentage of the base salary increased from 122% in 2006 to 136% in 2007. (in 2005: 110%). 

The increase in annual bonus as part of the total compensation could be a signal that the incentive for earnings management has increased. In the results of my research I could expect strong results for earnings management. 
3.5.4. Long-term incentive

The long-term incentive in 2007 is 40% of the total reward of the CEO. The total value of the long-term bonus increased in 2007 with almost 15%, from EUR 1 million to EUR 1,16 million (in 2006: increase of 25%). 

Just like the annual bonus, an increase in long-term bonus relative to total compensation could mean a strong incentive for earnings management behavior. 

3.6. Summary + Conclusion

After I gave an introduction about earnings management in the previous chapter, in this chapter I highlighted the elements of the remuneration schemes for chief executive officers and it’s (inter)national developments. By means of this developments and theory and prior literature I will form expectations for my research.

The last couple of months the discussion about the justice of executive remuneration schemes did increase; although discussions about other person’s salary and bonuses have always been, and will always be there. Some people didn’t feel that after the consequences of the credit crisis managers earned these compensations, others even stated that the remuneration packages were one of the main causes in the origin of the crisis. The tournament theory however predicts that to motivate people at the top, you have to give them an extra incentive because he or she reached the top of the corporate ladder. A high fixed salary and/or variable components are opportunities.

A standard remuneration scheme consists of a base salary, an annual bonus, and a long-term incentive plan. The variable part of compensation has increased spectacularly last years both national as international, which could mean that the incentives for earnings management are increased, because the annual bonus is most of the time based on accounting profits. 
In Europe itself big differences exist between the compensation components between countries. CEOs working in the Netherlands receive an average annual bonus and LTIP (both 105% of base salary); while CEOs working in Germany receive a large annual bonus (185% of base salary, but a small LTIP of 55%). These differences in remuneration structure can mean different incentives for earnings management for managers working in different countries. 
The last part of this chapter highlighted the national developments in remuneration. The developments agree with the international ones. In 2005, the division between fixed salary, annual compensation and long-term remuneration was 1/3. In 2007, the share of the fixed salary decreased to 25%. The variable parts of remuneration in turn increased a lot, which could result in a strong incentive for earnings management. 
Chapter 4: Literature Review

4.1. Introduction

In the second chapter I explained theory and the basic elements of earnings management. I mentioned that many studies made use of a detecting model to observe accrual-based management. In this chapter I will discuss prior literature which investigates earnings management and the influence of compensation. In chapter three I discussed the remuneration structure of chief executive officers, with the basic components and (inter)national developments. In this master thesis I want to investigate the influence of this remuneration schemes on earnings management behavior. In contrast with my planned research however, existing studies often focused on just one component of compensation; most of the time annual bonus schemes. For the components cash salary and long-term incentive plans less research is already performed. 

Before I will be able to formulate my expectations about my planned research and the design of my research method the most important prior literature has to be examined. In the appendix the details of this literature can be found, like time period and country. 
4.2. Remuneration structure and Earnings Management

4.2.1. Healy (1985)

Healy was one of the first researchers who focused onto the influence of managers’ compensation schemes in relation to earnings management. The purpose of Healy’s research was to test if there is an association between the managers’ accrual and accounting decision, and income reporting incentives under bonus plans. Healy indicated that previous tests always induced that managers will select increasing accounting procedures. In contrast to previous tests, Healy’s model also gives managers incentives for decrease earnings. Because previous studies didn’t pay attention to this, following Healy et al. they “understate the association between compensation incentives and accounting procedure decisions” (Healy, 1985).

Healy indicated that the differences in earnings definitions and target horizons of different incentives plans made it almost impossible for him to test their individual influences on manager’s accrual decisions. Therefore Healy concentrated on companies whose only performance based compensation were bonus plans. However, because of the improved reporting about remuneration nowadays; management of listed companies is forced to disclose a distinction between different parts of remuneration of managers in annual reports; I‘ll try to make this distinction between different parts of remuneration in my model. 

Healy’s expectations were that ‘managers have an incentive to select income-decreasing discretionary accruals when their bonus plan’s upper and lower bounds are binding. This means that although the results increase, the bonus remains the same. When their bounds are not binding, and when bonuses are not limited, the managers have an incentive to choose income-increasing discretionary accruals’ (Healy). In other words, when managers realize that they will not reach a target, they will use income decreasing tools so they can increase income in next years. 

Results of the chosen tests supported this theory: ‘accruals are lower for company-years with binding bonus plan upper bounds than for company-years with no upper bound. This difference in the timing or reported earnings is off-set when bonus plan upper limits are not binding’ (Healy).

4.2.2. Healy, Kang, Palepu (1987)

Following the article of Healy (1985), Healy, Kang and Palepu examined the relation between accounting procedures changes on the remuneration components base salary and bonus schemes to CEOs.

Healy, Kang and Palepu tested “whether there is an adjustment to this statistical relation subsequent to an accounting procedure change” (Healy et al. 1987). “Two forms of these adjustments were considered: (1) those that transform reported earnings under the new accounting method to earnings under the original method, and (2) adjustments to the parameter of the relation that offset the effect of the accounting change” (Healy et al.).

The relation was tested taken two accounting procedures changes into consideration: change from inventory method (FIFO → LIFO) and change in depreciation model (accelerated → straight-line depreciation). By using both income-decreasing and income-increasing changes, the power of tests increases.

‘If committees and managers have rational expectations, the compensation hypothesis implies that committees write remuneration contract anticipating managements’ incentives to opportunistically select accounting rules to increase their compensation. No adjustment to management compensation schedules will then be observed following a change in accounting rules’ (Healy et al.). 

Healy et al examined this hypothesis by testing if compensation, subsequent to an accounting change is based on earnings that are adjusted for the effects of this change. The results show that the effects of the accounting changes on the bonus and cash remunerations for CEO’s are small.

4.2.3. Gaver, Gaver, and Austin (1995)

Gaver, Gaver and Austin also joined Healy (1985) by discussing the relation between discretionary accruals and the bonus component of manager’s contract. As I have mentioned, Healy predicted that “for firms with earnings-based bonus plans, the level of total accounting accruals depends on the relation between accounting earnings and the earnings bounds established by the plan” (Gaver et al. 1995).

Gaver, Gaver and Austin criticized Healy’s results because of Healy’s use of a model taking total accruals, rather than discretionary accruals in consideration. As already explained in chapter 3 in the paragraph about detecting models, various researchers criticized models using total accruals. Making use of total accruals means that Healy assumed an expected level of non-discretionary accrual value of zero. Most important critical point against the use of total accruals is that nondiscretionary accruals vary with economic circumstances. “So, if negative nondiscretionary accruals are the cause of both low accounting earnings and the negative total accruals figure, then Healy’s result could be due to exogenous changes in economic conditions, rather than overt earnings management” (Gaver et al.). 

With the use of the modified version of the Jones detecting model, “Healy prediction that managers ‘take a bath’ by selecting negative discretionary accruals when earnings fall below the bonus plan lower bound is not supported by Gaver’s et al. data” (Gaver et al). In fact, they predict that when earnings before discretionary accruals will be under a lower bound, management will use income-increasing accruals. Just like Gaver, Gaver, and Austin, the modified-Jones model will be one of my measures to detect earnings management. 

4.2.4. Holthausen, Larcker and Sloan (1995)

In addition to Gaver et al (1995), Holthausen, Larcker and Sloan extend the work of Healy (1985). The research of Holthausen, Larcker and Sloan is almost similar to that of Gaver et al. Like Healy, they find evidence that managers make use of income-decreasing accruals when their bonuses are at their maximum. But unlike Healy and in accordance with Gaver et al. they find no evidence of income decreasing accruals when earnings are below the minimum bound.

4.2.5. Guidry, Leone, and Rock (1999)

Guidry, Leone and Rock also studied the relation between earnings management and short term compensation. In comparison with Healy and some followers, Guidry et al. made some important adjustments. First, they didn’t judge based on aggregate company information; they focused on the level of analysis to the business unit level. An important consequence of using aggregate information is that it can ignore the different incentives of different business unit managers. Income increasing incentives of one manager will offset income decreasing incentives of another. Second difference, business unit managers receive no compensation based on long-term performance but only based on performance of the department, which strengthen the conclusion about bonus incentives. 

The results of the study of Guidry et al. are however consistent with the results of Healy; ‘business-unit managers in the bonus range with incentives to make income-increasing discretionary accruals, appear to manage earnings upward relative to business-unit managers who are not in the bonus range’ (Guidry et al. 1999)  

4.2.6. Gao and Shrieves (2001)

The objective of the study of Gao en Schrieves is to ‘identify firm specific factors that influence the extent of earnings management, with a focus on managerial compensation contract’ (Gao and Schrieves 2001). The study of Gao and Schrieves is similar to my planned research considering the fact that they as one of the few look at the consequences of the structure of the remuneration contract, rather than just focus on one component. 

Gao and Schrieves expected a non-positive relationship between the basic salary and earnings management, because a manager who only receives a fixed salary has incentives to reduce costly earnings management behavior. These costs (monitoring/bonding costs: see chapter 3 about agency costs) would reduce his income. ‘Non-linear payoffs (like stock-options, bonus and LTIP) are expected to induce greater earnings management’ (Gao and Schrieves). 

‘Gao and Schrieves found the amounts of current year stock options and bonuses are reliably positively related to earnings management capacity. Salaries are negatively related to earnings management intensity, and the results do not reliably support either positive or negative effects of long-term incentive plans’ (Gao and Schrieves). The results of Gao and Schrieves, with the mixed character, indicate a variety of compensation-related incentive effects, and the evidence that the structure of remuneration has influence on earnings management intensity.   

4.2.7. Kedia (2003)

Kedia studied a very specific example of earnings management, by focusing on firms who restate their financial statements due to accounting irregularities. Following Kedia restatements of financial statements are a good proxy for earnings management because it’s proven that unexpected restatements results in a significant stock price reaction. ‘Kedia found that high pay-for- performance incentives arising from stock options significantly increase the probability of restatements. Further Kedia found that there is a difference between stock and stock options in how they affect the incentives to manage earnings’ (Kedia 2003). Large stakes don’t generate any incentives, while for small equity ownership; there is a positive effect of incentives on a restatement.

4.2.8. Goldman and Slezak (2006)

Goldman and Slezak examined how the possibility for manipulation has influence on the characteristics of the equilibrium stock-based incentive contract. ‘When the agent can misrepresent performance, stock-based compensation will acts as an double edged sword, inducing managers to extend effort which improves firm value, but also induces managers to inflate or exaggerate performance which reduces firm value’ (Goldman et al 2006).

Results of tests predict that the equilibrium contract will depend on the monitoring environment, consistent with recent empirical results. ‘Goldman et al. showed that firms facing a lower detecting probability will have lower pay-for-performance sensitivity’ (Goldman et al) 

4.2.9. Bergstresser and Philippon (2006)

Bergstresser and Philippon examined the statement if the use of discretionary accruals is more present in cases where CEO’s performance is for a large part based on the stock and stock option holding. To investigate the association between earnings management and option compensation Bergstresser and Philippon made use of the Modified-Jones model. 
Bergstresser et al. find evidence that ‘companies with more ‘incentivized” CEO’s – those whose overall compensation is more sensitive to company share price – have higher level of earnings management’ (Bergman et al. 2006). 

4.2.10. Burns and Kedia (2006)

Following Gao and Schrieves, Burns and Keida investigated the effects of the compensation structure on misreporting. The paper of Burns and Kedia examines ‘whether and how management’s incentives, through their compensation contracts, affect the likelihood of engaging in unusual accounting practices that result in a restatement of financial statement’ (Burns and Kedia 2006). 

In addition to Bergstresser and Philippon, Burns and Kedia found a positive relationship between CEO’s option portfolio to stock price and earnings manipulation. For other components, like LTIP and salary, no significant impact to misreport is found. The reason stock option has more impact than the other components is following Burns and Kedia because ‘(1) convexity in CEO wealth introduced by stock options limits the downside risk on the discovery of misreporting, and (2) stock options allow CEOs to pool with other executives that exercise for liquidity and diversification reasons, i.e., options facilitate easy exit strategies for CEO’s’ (Burns et al.).  

4.2.11. Summary and conclusions

After studying prior literature I can conclude that studies relating compensation to earnings management almost always focus on just one or two components of compensation. Most of the time the influences of the bonus schemes or stock options are investigated. 
Like Burns and Kedia (2006) or Bergstresser and Phillipon (2006) a positive relationship is predicted between variable remuneration and earnings management. Results of tests indeed show a positive influence. 

Burns and Kedia and Gao and Schrieves (2001) are one of the few who paid attention to the structure of the remuneration, including components like fixed salary and LTIP. Because I believe that for a complete analysis the entire structure should be included, I still want to pay attention to the earlier mentioned distinction in fixed salary, annual bonus and long-term incentives. 
For the component fixed salary a neutral or negative relationship is expected with earning management. When the performance of an organization has no direct effect on the compensation of the manager, the manager will have no direct incentive to manipulate revenues. However, Gao and Shrieves expected a negative relationship when the compensation of management is solely based on fixed components, because the manager will take the agency costs in consideration (monitoring-, bonding-, and residual loss) which will decrease his compensation.

Because the variable part of compensation is based on the performances of the organization, short-term or long-term, the expectations are that these parts of compensation will have a positive influence on earnings management. Because the short-term annual bonuses are most of the time based on short-term performance, while the LTIP are based on long-term performance which are distributed after couple of years; the expectation is that the influence of annual bonus on earnings management is larger. 

By means of prior literature and developments in (inter)national remunerations, I formed hypothesis which I will investigate. In the next paragraph these hypothesis are mentioned. 

4.3. Hypothesis

By means of the theory, many articles in prior literature and the (inter)national developments in remunerations, I had formed expectations and hypothesis for my research. The following hypothesis will be investigated in my research, divided by category:

Fixed remuneration:

1. The influence of fixed salary will have a neutral relationship with earnings management (because an increase in performance won’t result in an increase in compensation).
2. The influence of fixed salary will have a negative relationship with earnings management (because CEOs will try to minimize agency costs to maximize compensation).
3. The influence of fixed salary will have a positive relationship with earnings management (because CEOs will try to impress the organization to keep their job). 

Variable remuneration:

4. The influence of annual bonuses will have a positive relationship with earnings management (because an increase in profit results in an increase in compensation). 
5. The influence of LTIP will have a positive relationship with earnings management.

6. The influence of annual bonus schemes on earnings management will be higher than of LTIP on earnings management 

Total cash remuneration:

7. An increase in total cash remuneration will have a positive relationship with earnings management. 
In the next chapter I will discuss my research methods and sample which I will use to investigate these hypotheses.
Chapter 5: Research design

5.1. Introduction

After discussing theory and prior literature in previous chapters, it’s now time to formulate the research question which I will investigate and the plan how to perform. In the introductory chapters I discussed the background of earnings management behavior and some consequences it could have. I did explain that the chief executive officers and the owners of the organization could have different interests and that a remuneration contract between manager and organization could help to bring these interests together. It appeared that both the manager and organization are willing to enter into such a contract. 

In this master thesis I want to investigate what is the influence of the different compensation components in this remuneration contract onto earnings management behavior of CEOs. That is why my research question is:

What is the influence of the remuneration contract of CEO’s on earnings management? 

5.2. Research method
In this paragraph I will discuss the variables for measuring earnings management and executive incentives. In subparagraph 5.2.1. I’ll start with the measures for earnings management followed by the measures for executive incentives in 5.2.2.
5.2.1. Measuring earnings management

In chapter 2 I mentioned the developments in accounting-based detecting methods which can be used to draw conclusions about earnings management. Further I described the critics of Collins and Hribar against the usual accounting-based models by referring to the non-articulation situations. I mentioned that existing accounting-based detection models differ in relative simple models in which discretionary accruals are measured as total accruals, and more complicated models that separate the total accruals into non-discretionary and discretionary accruals. For my research I decided to use one example of a model which makes a distinction between discretionary and non-discretionary accruals. I chose the Modified-Jones model because of his widespread use and its assumptions discussed in chapter 2. 

Besides the Modified Jones model, I will use a cash flow statement based variable as proxy for earnings management. I will use one of the two proxies mentioned in subparagraph 2.6.2.  Through the fact I make use of this second model, I can see the difference with the variable based on balance sheet items, and I can test the conclusions of Collins and Hribar. 

5.2.1.1. Modified Jones Model 
To make the distinction between discretionary and nondiscretionary accruals, I will make use of the Modified-Jones model, developed by Dechow, Sloan and Sweeney in 1996. For details about the Modified-Jones model I refer to paragraph 2.5, where I discussed different accrual models.  
The modified Jones model is used in similar studies (for example Gao and Shrieves 2001), which will increase the comparability and strength of my results. The first step to take is the calculation of total accruals, which are defined as the difference between net income before extraordinary items and operating cash flows. I followed Dechow, Sloan and Sweeney and calculated total accruals for firm i in year t, TAi,t, as follows:
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   (1)
where  Δ CA = change in total current assets


Δ Cash = change in cash and cash equivalents


Δ CL = change in total current liabilities


Δ STD = change in debt included in current liabilities


Dep = depreciation and amortization expenses
All items are divided by total assets at the beginning of the year to control for firm size differences. Although my sample contains only listed companies, big differences still exist between firm sizes which could have influences on results otherwise. Because I divide the formulas with the total assets, I won’t use a control variable in the regressions to control for firm sizes. 
In the chapter about earnings management became clear that earnings management could have both positive as negative consequences on results etc. Either positive or negative  accruals are consistent with earnings management. That’s the reason why I will use the absolute value of the (scaled) estimated total accruals for further investigation. 

To make a distinction from the total accruals into the discretionary part of total accruals and the non-discretionary part I followed Kadan and Yang (2006) and carried out the following linear regression in SPSS 17:

NDAi,t = α0 + α1 (1/Ai,t-1) + α2 (ΔREV – ΔREC) + α3 (PPE)               (2)
where  NDAi,t  = non-discretionary accruals
Ai,t-1 = total assets at beginning of the year
Δ REV = change in total revenues
Δ REC = change in accounts receivable


PPE = level of gross property, plant and equipment
and like before all items are divided by total assets at the beginning of the year to control for firm size differences. 
‘The change in sales less the change in accounts receivable, and the level op property, plant and equipment capture the normal changes in accruals driven by the growth in operating activities and investments. Thus the residuals of the regressions reflect transitory accounting distortions’ (Kadan and Yang). The discretionary part of total accruals, DAi,t, I calculated as follows:

DAi,t = TAi,t – NDAi,t
where
TAi,t = estimated total accruals 
(see equation 1)


NDAi,t = estimated non-discretionary accruals 
(see equation 2)

According to Moore et al. (2003) in their book ‘The Practice of Business Statistics’ a good way to discover outliers in data sets is by making use of the 1,5 * IQR (‘inter quartile range’) rule. This rule is based on the information given by a box plot, including the minimum and maximum values, but also the three quartiles Q1 (25%), Q2 (50%), and Q3 (75%). IQR is stated as the difference between Q1 and Q3. Following this rule data with an amount above 1,5 times IQR the third quartile are seen as outliers; the same holds for data which are 1,5 times IQR under the first quartile.

I used the 1,5 * IQR rule to remove outliers from the estimated discretionary accruals. This resulted in four outliers in the Dutch dataset, and five outliers in the German dataset, which I have removed. 

Tables 5.1. and 5.2. illustrate the summary statistics, including the distribution, of the final set of estimated discretionary accruals for respectively the Dutch and German datasets. 
	Descriptive Statistics

	
	N
	Minimum
	Maximum
	Mean
	Std. Deviation

	DCA
	137
	-,08
	,13
	-,0069
	,04919

	Valid N (listwise)
	137
	
	
	
	


Table 5.1: Descriptive statistics estimated discretionary accruals Dutch data
	Descriptive Statistics

	
	N
	Minimum
	Maximum
	Mean
	Std. Deviation

	DCA
	85
	-5,88
	12,08
	-1,3430
	4,67861

	Valid N (listwise)
	85
	
	
	
	


Table 5.2: Descriptive statistics estimated discretionary accruals German data

Looking to both the tables of descriptive statistics of estimated discretionary accruals I conclude that the outcomes between both countries really differ. First, the sample of the German dataset is as mentioned a lot smaller in comparison to the Dutch dataset (137 versus 85), which means that the German outcome lost strength.

The second, more important discussion point is the difference in mean value, and the related minimum and maximum values. The difference between lowest and highest DCA is much bigger in the German dataset in comparison to the Dutch dataset. The explanation could be the earlier mentioned difference in sample size. 
The difference in values between the German and Dutch datasets is caused by the great difference in the coefficient α0 in the equation (2) between both countries. See the appendix C for details. 
The outcome of the estimated discretionary accruals I will use in a linear regression as dependent variables, and the compensation components as independent variables. The measures of the compensation components I will discuss in subparagraph 5.2.2. But first, in the next subparagraph I will pay attention to the proxy for earnings management based on cash flow statement information. 

5.2.1.2. Cash flow statement based proxy
The second variable which I used as a measure for earnings management is based on cash flow statement information rather than on the usual balance sheet information. As mentioned in paragraph 2.6.2., in 2002, Hribar and Collins stated that using ‘successive balance sheet variables to measure earnings management create potential problems around non-“articulation” dates, such as mergers and acquisitions’ (Bergstresser and Philippon, 2006). As a consequence of the mergers and acquisitions the figures of the company will radically change, which can have big impacts on the proxy for earnings management. Primary findings of Hribar and Collins is that ‘studies using a balance sheet approach to test for earnings management are potentially contaminated by measurement error in accrual estimates’ (Hribar and Collings). 
The reason I decided to use this measure as a second proxy for earnings management is that especially in case with listed companies these events happens relative often, like mergers and acquisitions or divestitures and these events could have big impacts on the figures, especially the balance sheet, of these companies. Because my sample consists of listed companies, impacts on the figures can be expected. The figure below presents some examples of extraordinary items or discontinued operations which had their impacts on annual figures of the corresponding companies (information collected from the annual reports):
	Company
	Year 
	Event
	Amounts in annual figures

	Akzo Nobel N.V.
	2007
	Discontinued operations; sale of subsidiary Organon Biosciences
	EUR 11 billion.

	Kendrion  N.V. 
	2007
	Loss on sale of discontinued operation; sale of it’s automotive metals activities
	EUR 9,5 million.

	Nutreco Holding N.V. 
	2006
	Book profit discontinued operation; sale of Marine Harvest and Hydrotech Gruppe
	EUR 400 million.

	Bayer AG
	2007
	Bayer AG concluded an agreement with Siemens AG for the latter to acquire the diagnostics business
	EUR 3.9 billion


Table 5.3: Examples of extraordinary items or discontinued operations of companies in sample
Hribar and Collins proposed to use a measure which is immune to the non-articulation problem. This measure is, in contrast to the Modified-Jones model not based on balance sheet numbers, but on cash flow statements. The measure which I used is defined as, and is one of the two variables mentioned in paragraph 2.6.2.:



                     (3)

where  TAcf = measure for earnings management
EBXIi,t  = reported earnings before extraordinary items and discontinued operations 

CFOi,t = operating cash flow from continuing operations
Ai,t-1 = total assets at the beginning of the year
This measure is similar to the Modified-Jones model in the way that is also captures the difference between earnings and cash flows, but it’s not based on balance sheet data. The variable is divided by the total assets at the beginning of the year once again to control for firm size differences.  
The cash flow statement is divided into three parts. For the calculation of the earnings management variable mentioned above we make use of the Cash Flow from Operation (CFO). In the CFO only operating activities are included, like sales revenues, cost price, advertising costs and shipping costs. Irregular or non-operating benefits or losses are represented in the Cash Flow from Financing activities or Investing activities. With the use of the operating cash flow we exclude effects from non-operating activities.  

Unfortunately, data about the variable EBXI wasn’t available in the Compustat database for Dutch and German companies. I solved this problem by getting information about ‘Earnings before extraordinary items’ and ‘Discontinued operations’ separately, and adding these amounts to each other to calculate ‘Earnings before extraordinary items and discontinued operations’. 

Tables 5.4. and 5.5. illustrate the summary statistics, including the distribution, of the final set of cash flow based proxy for earnings management, also taken into account the presence of outliers.  
Use of the 1,5 * IQR rule resulted in the remove of eight values in the Dutch dataset, and seven values in the German dataset.  
	Descriptive Statistics

	
	N
	Minimum
	Maximum
	Mean
	Std. Deviation

	TA_CF
	135
	,00
	,24
	,0537
	,04676

	Valid N (listwise)
	135
	
	
	
	


Table 5.4: Descriptive statistics cash flow statement based Dutch data

	Descriptive Statistics

	
	N
	Minimum
	Maximum
	Mean
	Std. Deviation

	TA_CF
	83
	,20
	16,75
	5,2701
	3,39328

	Valid N (listwise)
	83
	
	
	
	


Table 5.5: Descriptive statistics cash flow statement based German data

As we saw from the descriptive statistics of the discretionary accruals, also with the statistics about the cash flow statistics there is a big difference between the German and Dutch dataset. 
Again, the outcome of the estimated measures I will use in a linear regression as dependent variables, and the compensation components as independent variables. The measures of the compensation components I will discuss in the next subparagraph. Similar to the Modified-Jones model, I will make use of the absolute values of TAcf  because both negative as positive values are consistent with earnings management.
5.2.2. Executive incentives

In the previous subparagraphs I discussed the two variables for measuring earnings management, DCAi,t and TAcf. In this subparagraph I will mention the executive incentives based on the compensation contract. The compensation components which I will relate to the earnings management variables are fixed salary, annual bonus, total cash remuneration and long-term incentive plans. 

Fixed salary and annual bonus are cash amounts which are just mentioned in the annual reports of listed companies. Total cash compensation is the sum of these two components. Long-term incentive plans can consists of different forms of compensation, for example share plans or option packages. The value of the option packages is valued with the use of the Black and Scholes model, which gives an reasonably assessments of the real value of the option as base of the current price, strike price, term, dividend return, interest date, and volatility. The value of shares is the amounts times the prices on grant date. In the annual reports of the listed firms most of the time this model or a similar model is used to quantify LTIP. The descriptive statistics of the individual components can be found in the next paragraph. 
As mentioned, the individual components of compensation (and the sum of fixed salary and annual bonus) I will use in the linear regression as independent variables, against DCAi,t or TAcf,  as dependent variable. 
5.3. Sample

The data in my sample I used can be divided into two parts. Data I used to investigate earnings management includes the variables from the Modified-Jones formula (see paragraph 5.2.1.1.) and the cash flow statement number (see paragraph 5.2.1.2.). The data referring to the compensation components of CEO’s are the FIXED SALARY, ANNUAL BONUS, LTIP, and TOTAL (cash) REMUNERATION. 
Information about the compensation components of CEOs' I had to collect manually because this information is not collected in databases yet for the German and Dutch listed companies. For the Dutch companies I used the website www.bestuursvoorzitter.nl as a checklist. This website collects information about the remuneration of CEOs’ at Dutch listed firms. For German companies such a backup was not available. Information about compensation I collected from annual reports, which I collected using the website http://company.info. 
Financial data as a proxy for earnings management I collected by making use of the COMPUSTAT database. All the information is converted into euros.  
Because of the manual collection of data, in first instance I decided to select 50 listed companies for each country. Because information about individual compensation for board members was more difficult to find than expected the number of companies in Germany came to 30. In the Netherlands I selected 47 companies. The Dutch Corporate Governance Code forces the Dutch companies to report about the individual remuneration of board members. The Dutch Corporate Governance Code, also known as ‘Code Tabaksblat’, was established in December 2004. In Germany, a similar Code was already established in February 2002. In comparison to the Netherlands, German companies however often report total board remuneration rather than individual remuneration taken the privacy of the members in consideration. For many German companies only in the annual reports regarding book year 2006 and 2007 individual compensation about board members is available. That’s an important reason why the total number of companies and years in Germany is smaller than in the Netherlands. 
By selecting the companies I tried to compose a selection where I did take into account the industry sector. Because each sector has it own developments I think it would be wise to compose a comparable selection for each of the countries to control for industry differences. Besides the fact of the sector, I also took into account the history of board composition. Because many studies (for example Wells 2002, and Murphy et al. 1992) suggest earnings management effects surrounding CEO changes I excluded companies where a CEO change did take place during 2004 – 2008 to control for these effects. The final sample of listed companies can be found in appendix A. 

The period where my study is based on is 2005 – 2007. So in most cases for each company three years are taken into consideration.  For the Netherlands the total company-years which are used in the research are 141. For Germany I used 76 company-years. The reason that my time period starts in 2005 is that listed companies from 2005 are forced to report following IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standards) regulations. This obligation increases the comparability between the figures of listed companies from different countries. I didn’t take fiscal year 2008 into account because the consequences of the credit crisis are still uncertain. It’s possible that unexpected changes in results or assets are affected by the consequences of the credit crisis rather than earnings management behavior. 
Tables 5.6. and 5.7. present summary statistics about the compensation components for managers working respectively in the Netherlands and Germany. 
	Descriptive Statistics

	
	N
	Minimum
	Maximum
	Mean
	Std. Deviation

	Fixed_salary
	141
	118.000,00
	1.775.000,00
	449.323,6596
	2,81371E5

	Annual_bonus
	138
	,00
	2.886.000,00
	313.815,9203
	4,11374E5

	Total_cash
	141
	161.302,00
	4.661.000,00
	756.462,6454
	6,72651E5

	LTIP
	82
	7.600,00
	5.620.000,00
	760.947,3171
	1,05782E6

	Valid N (listwise)
	81
	
	
	
	


Table 5.6: Summary statistics compensation components Dutch CEOs.
	Descriptive Statistics

	
	N
	Minimum
	Maximum
	Mean
	Std. Deviation

	Fixed_Salary
	76
	125.015,00
	3.200.000,00
	739.372,5789
	5,52047E5

	Annual_bonus
	76
	,00
	5.395.000,00
	1,3072E6
	1,24448E6

	Total_cash
	76
	194.000,00
	7.200.000,00
	2,0465E6
	1,69186E6

	LTIP
	43
	5.000,00
	5.629.100,00
	807.360,3023
	1,00062E6

	Valid N (listwise)
	43
	
	
	
	


Table 5.7: Summary statistics compensation components German CEOs

When we compare the above statistics about the remuneration in both Germany as in the Netherlands and we compare these figures with the developments described in chapter 3, we can conclude that the observations in the research of Hay Group also in my sample can be observed. Especially the difference in the mean of the short-term bonus between both countries (respectively EUR 313.816 and EUR 1.300.000 in the Netherlands and Germany) is noticeable. In comparison with the annual bonus, the long-term incentive in Germany is relative small, which was also one of the conclusions in the research of Hay Group.  

5.4. Limitations

Just like previous researches also my research has some limitations which have to keep in mind when studying my empirical results and could influence the outcome of these results. 

The first limitation is the accuracy of the collected data. Healy (1985) indicated that making a distinction between different components of remuneration was difficult because of the differences in time horizon for example. This difficulty made it almost impossible for him to test their individual influences on manager’s accrual decisions. Because data about compensation for managers working in the Netherlands and Germany is not yet available in databases, the data is collected manually. During the acquiring of the data I recognized the comments of Healy in some part. Information about the fixed salary and annual bonus was easy to find. Information about the LTIP however was more difficult because many forms of long-term compensation exist, and a clear representation in annual reports is not always available. For the Dutch dataset I could largely solve this problem by making use of the website www.bestuursvoorzitter.nl. 

The second limitation is also related to the collection of financial data, but now specific about the use of the Compustat database. The disadvantage of the Compustat database is that it doesn’t make use of comparative figures in the annual report, which means that the figures of a particular book year will not be adjusted when the annual report a year later mentions adjustments. The only possibility to respond is to manually check all the individual years. But in my opinion this doesn’t improve the reliability of the data, so I used the Compustat data. 
A third important limitation is the relative short time period and a relative small sample. To make a comparison possible between two different countries, reports formulated following IFRS are suitable. This means that I was restricted to company-years after 2005. Book year 2008 I didn’t included in my time period because of the uncertainty about the consequences for the figures because of the credit crunch. Because of the difficulty of obtaining the necessary data and because the Netherlands is a relative small country with a relative small amount of listed companies a larger sample was impossible. 

Another limitation is the use of the Modified-Jones model for making the distinction into discretionary accruals and non-discretionary accruals. Although the Modified-Jones model is a well-known detecting model for earnings management, like every accrual model the firm parameters have to be estimated. And because of this, there will always be some subjectivity when you use any accrual model.  

5.5. Added value 
In chapter 4 I discussed prior literature which also investigates earnings management in relation to compensation. However, the following aspects make my research different from others, and with these differences I think my research will give more actual and relevant results.

The first point of attention is companies where in recent years a change in board composition had taken place. Different articles (for example Wells, 2002) predicted earnings management effects, like big bath accounting, surrounding CEO changes. In the first year as CEO there could be incentives to report bad results to blame the predecessor to report very positive figures in the years thereafter. Another example is when the CEO who leaves the company tries to make short-term profits in his last year. To exclude these effects from the total earnings management effects, I didn’t select companies where during the years 2004 – 2008 a CEO turnover had taken place. That’s why big Dutch companies like Unilever N.V. and Royal Ahold N.V. are not in the sample.

Second, the studies which I described in prior literature paragraph all made use of old data, and data from one country; most of the time from the United States. My research doesn’t make use of data from one country, but from two countries, which make a comparison possible. Because I found two studies about the differences in compensation structure between both countries, I can use my results to confirm the trends. I will use statements prepared following IFRS to make the comparison possible. 

With the use of data from actual years I respond to the discussions about the justice of the bonuses of top managers, which started during the last couple of months, 
Third, the use of a measure for earnings management based on cash flow statement information is not very usual. By using both the Modified-Jones model and the cash-flow based model I am able to compare the results and take conclusions about the strength of both models and respond to the critics about the balance-sheet approaches. 
5.6. Empirical results

In the paragraphs 5.2. and 5.3. I explained the data which I used for my research for compensation and as a proxy for earnings management. The descriptive statistics can be found in these paragraphs. 
In the following subparagraphs I will discuss the outcome of each of the regression analysis. First I will discuss the empirical results of the Modified Jones measure, second I will discuss the measure of earnings management based on cash flow statements. 
5.6.1. Regression results Modified-Jones model

In this first regression estimated (absolute) discretionary accruals are used as a measure of the existence of earnings management behavior. I carried out a linear regression with the help of SPSS 17. The output of all the regressions can be found in appendix C. The model that is estimated here is as follows:
DCA = β0 + β1 * Fixed_salary + β2 * Annual_bonus + β3 * Total_cash + β4 * LTIP

5.6.1.1. Dutch data

Unfortunately, the output of the linear regression doesn’t show any significant relation between the dependent and independent variables. The level of significance for the fixed salary, annual bonus, and long-term incentive plans are respectively 0.835, 0.572, and 0.133. The significance value is the probability that the null hypothesis is correct. Most of the time the significance value of any test needs to be less than 0.05 or 0.10 to be significant. 

The positive relationship between the annual bonus variable and the absolute discretionary accruals is as expected. This would mean that an increase in annual bonus will result in an increase in earnings management behavior. But because the variables are far from significant, and the explanatory value (R2) of the regression is 0,03 and very low, it’s difficult to draw conclusions from this. 
The variable fixed salary shows, just like the annual bonus, a positive relationship with the dependent variable, the long-term incentive plan shows a negative relationship. The total cash variable is excluded from the regression.
5.6.1.2. German data

In comparison with the Modified-Jones model based on the Dutch dataset, the linear regression based on the German dataset has a higher explanatory value (0,16), but still not very high.
The same relationships can be noticed between the absolute discretionary accruals and the independent variables as with the Dutch dataset. A positive relationship between the fixed salary and annual bonus and the dependent variable; a negative relationship for the LTIP.

However, the significance value for the variables fixed salary and long-term incentive plans (respectively 0.606 and 0.448) are far from significant. 
The relationship between the annual bonus and DCA is significant at a 0,10 level (significance value is 0.068). This would mean that an increase in annual bonus means an increase in earnings management behavior. Just like the Dutch dataset, the variable total cash is excluded from the regression. 
Comparing both the outputs from the regressions based on the Modified-Jones formula it can be noted that the results are not as expected because almost all the coefficients are not significant. The direction of the relations between the compensation components are the same for both countries. There could be a couple of reasons which leads to this outcome, but the most important one is the size and composition of the sample. As mentioned, in contrast to earlier studies I couldn’t make use of a database with hundreds of compensation packages of chief executive officers in the United States. My sample is smaller, with the risk that the outcomes of the regressions are not sufficient to draw conclusions. 

The interpretations of the empirical results will be discussed in the next chapter, paragraph 6.3.

5.6.2. Regression results cash-flow statement proxy
In this second regression an estimated (absolute) cash flow statement based number is used as a measure of the presence of earnings management behavior. The output of all the regressions can be found in appendix C. The model that is estimated here is as follows:

CF = β0 + β1 * Fixed_salary + β2 * Annual_bonus + β3 * Total_cash + β4 * LTIP

5.6.2.1. Dutch data
The output of the linear regression looks like the output of the first regression. The different coefficients all have significance value above the 0.05 or 0.10 levels. The model summary shows an explanatory value of 0.033.

The results of the regression show a positive relationship between the fixed salary variable and the dependent variable. The results show a negative relationship between the other two independent variables and the proxy for earnings management. The negative relationships between the performance based components and earnings management is not as expected, and in contrast to the Modified-Jones output.  
5.6.2.2. German data

The results of the regression analysis show that there is a positive and significant relationship between the fixed salary variable and the earnings management variable. Next to it there is also a significant but negative relationship observable between the variable annual bonus and the earnings management variable. Interpreting these results it shows that an increase in fixed salary and a decrease in annual bonus is of influence on the level of CF and thus on the opportunity for chief executive officers to use earnings management behaviour. 
The result of the annual bonus is however not consistent with the expectations. Prior studies predict a positive relationship between annual bonus and earnings management, which means that there is a positive incentive coming from the annual bonus. 

The direction of the relationships for both the fixed salary and annual bonus is similar for both the Dutch data as the German data.  

Long-term incentive plan has a negative but non-significant relationship with earnings management. The explanatory value is in comparison to the Dutch regression higher (0.282 versus 0.033).

If we compare the results of the regressions, with the Modified-Jones model and the last measure, ignoring the non-significance, the relationships between the compensation components are different. For both the German dataset as the Dutch data the first measure predicts a positive relationship between annual bonus and fixed salary and discretionary accruals, and a negative relationship for LTIP. The second measure predicts for both countries a positive relationship between fixed salary and dependent variable; a negative relation is predicted for annual bonus and LTIP. The only difference is the direction of the annual bonus. However, because the non-significance of both regression outputs, it’s impossible to draw conclusions about the strength of both methods. 

The interpretations of the empirical results I will discuss in the next chapter, paragraph 6.3.

Chapter 6: Conclusions and Recommendations

6.1. Introduction

This last chapter will be used to give an overview of the whole thesis. In the next paragraph I will give a short summary about the most important elements. In the third paragraph the conclusions and interpretations about this research will be discussed. In the last paragraph of this chapter I will mention some suggestions for further research. 

6.2. Summary

In the introduction I paid attention to the constant discussion about the justice of the compensation of top managers. Especially in times when business is not going very well, these discussions regenerate. These discussions are feed by the changing overall compensation. The last couple of years the variable part of compensation increased a lot, which means that managers could earn big bonuses when some targets will be achieved. This increase is explained by the organization as a way to better match the interests of both the manager and organization (and its shareholders). 

In the second chapter I paid more attention to these different interests, by discussing the Positive Accounting theory and the related Agency theory. But first I mentioned the different definitions of earnings management, which vary from negative behavior in which managers were seen as self interested people trying to manipulate figures, to managers who use their knowledge and skills to better inform users to make better economic decisions. In this master thesis I wanted to investigate if the compensation contract of a chief executive officer has influence on earnings management behavior. In this chapter I also paid attention to the different motives, detecting models and consequences of earnings management.

In the third chapter became clear that the composition of a CEO’s compensation is normally based on a fixed salary, an annual bonus and compensation based on long-term performance. The composition of the remuneration follows from theory which predicts an increasing ratio of pay as individuals move up the corporate ladder. Because at the final level of CEO there is no higher position you can reach, the CEO should be given an extra price to motivate him to bear the risks and responsibilities which belongs to this function. A possible extra prize is a high fixed salary and some profit-sharing. The agency theory predicts different interests between organization and managers; the different parts of compensation structure should provide incentives for managers to keep act in interest of the firm. 

There are differences between the compensation packages in different countries. Compensation in the United States for example is exceptional, not only in size, but also in composition. CEOs working at Dutch listed companies receive a lower compensation in comparison to the average in Europe. In Germany, total compensation is higher than in the Netherlands, and also the composition is different. Where German CEOs receive a high annual bonus, they receive only a ‘small’ LTIP. The different composition in the compensation packages could mean different incentives for earnings management behavior.  

Because extraordinary performance normally will lead to an increase (or decrease) in variable compensation (short term or long-term), whereas the fixed salary will be unaffected, expectations are that the influence for earnings management due to variable compensation are higher in comparison to fixed salary. The variable part of compensation increased a lot, which means that the incentive for earnings management should also has increased. 

Theory, prior literature and (inter)national developments in remuneration formed the bases of my research question and hypothesis for this research. My research question was if remuneration contracts of chief executive officers will influence earnings management behavior?
6.3. Conclusions

I ended the summary of this thesis with the expectation that the different components in the compensation packages should mean different incentives for earnings management. To investigate this relationship, I made use of two measures of earnings management; (1) the Modified-Jones model and (2) a cash flow statement based model. The Modified-Jones model is a well accepted model in earnings management studies. The cash flow statement measure is a reaction on the balance sheet models, which predicts wrong conclusions about earnings management when many non-operating activities occur which will influence the balance sheet of the company radically and makes a comparison between book-years impossible. 
The outcomes of the linear regressions were not as expected and not consistent with prior and comparable studies. The modified-Jones model predicted a positive relationship between the fixed salary and annual bonus variables and earnings management, but these variables were far from significant and had a low explanatory value. The linear regression with the cash flow statement measure as dependent variable predicted a positive relationship for the fixed salary, for the annual bonus and long-term incentive plans a negative relationship is predicted. The outcome of the German dataset was significant, but not in line with the expectations based on theory and prior literature.

These results can mean two things. The first explanation can be that the design of the research, including its sample and method, is not sufficient and appropriate to predict results. 

A second explanation can be that there is no relationship between compensation components and earnings management. 
From the results of my empirical study I conclude that a relationship between compensation and earnings management of chief executive officers working in Dutch and German listed firms in this setting is not proven. With this setting I mean the research method and the countries/sample which I considered. In contrast to prior studies, carried out in the United States, it is impossible to draw conclusions about the influence the different compensation components can have on earnings management behavior. Prior studies expected positive relationships between variable compensation and earnings management, and showed empirical results as confirmation. Because my results are not significant, a comparison between my results and prior results is impossible. In conclusion I can say that I didn’t find the same relationship as earlier studies.  
In the introduction I was wondering if the changing compensation structure of CEOs were a good step in the right direction. The answer to this question I can’t unfortunately support with the results of my empirical research. Like I mentioned, I conclude that in this setting a relationship between compensation and earnings management is not proven. Despite the increasing part of variable compensation, a strong incentive for earnings management is not proven. Take into account the described theory and prior literature I can however expect that the introduction of the performance related compensation components should have positive influence of earnings management behavior of CEOs. Especially the annual bonus component will have an influence on the manipulation of accounting numbers. 

6.4. Suggestions for further research

One mentioned limitation of my research is the relative small data sample. In the first place this was caused by the fact that reporting following the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) was forced since book year 2005, which resulted in a time period of 2005 till 2007. Reasons why I didn’t include book year 2008 I have given a couple of times. The second reason of the relative small data sample was because I had to collect information about manager’s compensation manually, and the Netherlands is a relative small country with a relative small amount of listed companies. Opportunities to extend the sample are taking book year 2008 into account or to extend the research with different countries, or countries where compensation data is available in databases. It might be interesting to investigate if the effects of the credit crisis are visible in the 2008 figures and really have influence on earnings management.

In this thesis I discussed different models for detecting earnings management. I made the decision to use the modified-Jones model to make the distinction in discretionary accruals and non-discretionary accruals. In the first place because I agree with the critics on other models, and second because this model is many times used in prior literature which increases the comparability of my results. A suggestion for further research could be to compare a different set of models to find out if other models can outperform the Modified-Jones model.

Another suggestion for further research is to investigate what the consequences would be for earnings management when variable remuneration is only related to long-term performance rather than on annual performance. In chapter 3 I mentioned that beside the incentives to increase profits, most annual bonus plans could result in additional incentives, most of the time conflicting with stated company objectives. These conflicting incentives are partly reduced with LTIP because compensation is distributed after some years and based on multiple year performance. I think it’s interesting to see what happens with the earnings management measures when compensation is solely based on long-term incentive. 
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Appendix A

Companies in sample (in alphabetic order)

	
	Dutch listed firms
	German listed firms

	
	
	

	1
	Aalberts Industries N.V.
	Adidas AG

	2
	Accell Group N.V.
	Bayer AG

	3
	Akzo Nobel N.V.
	Bilfinger Berger AG

	4
	Amsterdam Commodities N.V.
	Centrotec Sustainable AG

	5
	Arcadis N.V.
	Continental AG

	6
	ASM International N.V.
	Daimler AG

	7
	ASML Holding N.V.
	Deutsche Lufthansa AG

	8
	Batenburg Beheer N.V.
	Douglas Holding AG

	9
	Beter Bed Holding N.V.
	Dyckerhoff AG

	10
	Brunel International N.V.
	E.ON AG

	11
	Crown Van Gelder N.V.
	Fraport AG

	12
	Crucell N.V.
	Funkwerk AG

	13
	Econosto N.V.
	GEA Group AG

	14
	Gamma Holding N.V.
	Gfk AG

	15
	H.E.S. Beheer N.V.
	Hawesko Holding AG

	16
	Hagemeyer N.V.
	Henkel KgaA

	17
	Heijmans N.V.
	Leoni AG

	18
	ICT Automatisering N.V.
	Linde AG

	19
	Imtech N.V.
	Loewe AG

	20
	InnoConcepts N.V.
	Nordwest Handel AG

	21
	Kendrion N.V.
	OHB Technology AG

	22
	Koninklijke Grolsch N.V.
	PUMA AG

	23
	Koninklijke KPN N.V.
	Rheinmetall AG

	24
	Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V.
	Salzgitter AG

	25
	Koninklijke Ten Cate N.V.
	SAP AG

	26
	Koninklijke Wegener N.V.
	Sartorius AG

	27
	Koninklijke Wessanen N.V.
	SolarWorld AG

	28
	Macintosh Retail Group N.V.
	Stada Arzneimittel AG

	29
	Nedfield N.V.
	TUI AG

	30
	Nutreco Holding N.V.
	United Internet AG

	31
	Nyloplast N.V.
	

	32
	Océ N.V.
	

	33
	Ordina N.V.
	

	34
	Qurius N.V.
	

	35
	Randstad Holding N.V.
	

	36
	Royal Dutch Shell
	

	37
	SBM Offshore N.V.
	

	38
	Simac Techniek N.V.
	

	39
	Sligro Food Group N.V.
	

	40
	Smit Internationale N.V.
	

	41
	Stern Groep N.V.
	

	42
	Tie Holding N.V.
	

	43
	TKH Group N.V.
	

	44
	TNT N.V.
	

	45
	Unit 4 Agresso N.V.
	

	46
	Wavin N.V.
	

	47
	Wolters Kluwer N.V.
	


Appendix B
Literature details

	Author
	Object of study
	Country
	Sample
	Period
	Methodology
	Results

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Healy (1985)
	Income reporting incentives under bonus plans
	United States
	94 firms
	1964 - 1980
	Original Jones model
	Lower accruals for company-years with binding bonus plan upper bounds than for company-years with no upper bound

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Healy, Kang, and Palepu (1987)
	Relation between accounting procedures changes on cash salary and bonus plans
	United States
	90 firms
	1967 - 1976
	
	Effects of the accounting changes on the bonus and cash remuneration for CEOs are small.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Gaver, Gaver, and Austin (1995)
	Relation between discretionary accruals and the bonus component of manager's contract
	United States
	102 firms
	1980 - 1990
	Modified-Jones model
	Prediction that managers ‘take a bath’ not supported. Predict that when earnings before discretionary accruals will be under lower bound, manager will use income-increasing accrual.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Holthausen, Larcker, and Sloan (1995)
	Income reporting incentives under bonus plans
	United States
	216 firms
	1982 – 1991
	Modified-Jones model 
	Managers make use of income-decreasing accruals when bonuses are at maximum. No evidence of income decreasing accruals.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Guidry, Leone, and Rock (1999)
	Relation between earnings management and short-term compensation
	United States
	179 business-unit years
	1994 - 1995
	
	Consistent with results of Healy (1985)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Gao and Schrieves (2001)
	Consequences of the structure of the remuneration contract
	United States
	1200 firms
	1992 - 2000
	
	Current year stock-option and bonuses are positively related to earnings management. Salaries are negatively related. Results do not reliably support either positive or negative effects of LTIP. 

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Kedia (2003)
	Firms who restate their financial statements due to accounting irregularities
	United States
	224 firms
	1997 - 2002
	
	High pay-for-performance incentives arising form stock options significantly increase probability of restatements. Difference between stock and stock options in how they affect the incentives to manage earnings. 

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Goldman and Slezak (2006)
	Influence of manipulation on the characteristics of the equilibrium stock-based incentive contract
	
	
	
	
	Firms facing lower detecting probability will have lower pay-for-performance sensitivity.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Bergstresser and Philippon (2006)
	Use of discretionary accruals by stock-option based compensation
	United States
	
	1990 - 2000
	Modified-Jones model
	Companies with most incentivized CEOs have higher levels of earnings management.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Burns and Kedia (2006)
	Effects of the compensation structure on misreporting
	United States
	1500 firms
	1995 - 2002
	
	Positive relationships between CEOs option portfolio and earnings management. For other components no significant impact is found. 


Appendix C
SPSS output
Output SPSS 17 regression total accruals Dutch dataset, used for estimating coefficients a0, a1, a2, a3  Modified Jones model:

	Model Summary

	Model
	R
	R Square
	Adjusted R Square
	Std. Error of the Estimate

	1
	,160a
	,026
	,004
	,06416

	a. Predictors: (Constant), PPE, TA_1, REV_REC


	Coefficientsa

	Model
	Unstandardized Coefficients
	Standardized Coefficients
	t
	Sig.

	
	B
	Std. Error
	Beta
	
	

	1
	(Constant)
	,066
	,006
	
	11,000
	,000

	
	TA_1
	312886,528
	182679,021
	,147
	1,713
	,089

	
	REV_REC
	-1,469E-12
	,000
	-,076
	-,553
	,581

	
	PPE
	1,162E-13
	,000
	,021
	,155
	,877

	a. Dependent Variable: TA


Output SPSS 17 regression total accruals German dataset , used for estimating coefficients a0, a1, a2, a3 Modified Jones model:

	Model Summary

	Model
	R
	R Square
	Adjusted R Square
	Std. Error of the Estimate

	1
	,100a
	,010
	-,025
	7,63986

	a. Predictors: (Constant), PPE, TA_1, REV_REC


	Coefficientsa

	Model
	Unstandardized Coefficients
	Standardized Coefficients
	t
	Sig.

	
	B
	Std. Error
	Beta
	
	

	1
	(Constant)
	5,448
	1,114
	
	4,891
	,000

	
	TA_1
	-947523,483
	3828679,864
	-,028
	-,247
	,805

	
	REV_REC
	-1,060E-10
	,000
	-,085
	-,713
	,478

	
	PPE
	4,556E-10
	,000
	,016
	,127
	,900

	a. Dependent Variable: TA


Output SPSS 17 Modified-Jones Dutch dataset:
	Descriptive Statistics

	
	Mean
	Std. Deviation
	N

	DCA
	-,0029
	,04940
	80

	Fixed_salary
	558725,3875
	3,16043E5
	80

	Annual_bonus
	428947,9500
	4,99517E5
	80

	Total_cash
	987673,3375
	7,96875E5
	80

	LTIP
	745926,0000
	1,04475E6
	80


	Model Summaryb

	Model
	R
	R Square
	Adjusted R Square
	Std. Error of the Estimate

	1
	,172a
	,030
	-,009
	,04961

	a. Predictors: (Constant), LTIP, Fixed_salary, Annual_bonus

	b. Dependent Variable: DCA


	Coefficientsa

	Model
	Unstandardized Coefficients
	Standardized Coefficients
	t
	Sig.
	95,0% Confidence Interval for B

	
	B
	Std. Error
	Beta
	
	
	Lower Bound
	Upper Bound

	1
	(Constant)
	-,005
	,015
	
	-,339
	,735
	-,035
	,025

	
	Fixed_salary
	8,834E-9
	,000
	,057
	,209
	,835
	,000
	,000

	
	Annual_bonus
	1,563E-8
	,000
	,158
	,568
	,572
	,000
	,000

	
	LTIP
	-1,268E-8
	,000
	-,268
	-1,518
	,133
	,000
	,000

	a. Dependent Variable: DCA


	Excluded Variablesb

	Model
	Beta In
	t
	Sig.
	Partial Correlation
	Collinearity Statistics

	
	
	
	
	
	Tolerance

	1
	Total_cash
	.a
	.
	.
	.
	,000

	a. Predictors in the Model: (Constant), LTIP, Fixed_salary, Annual_bonus

	b. Dependent Variable: DCA


	Residuals Statisticsa

	
	Minimum
	Maximum
	Mean
	Std. Deviation
	N

	Predicted Value
	-,0514
	,0192
	-,0029
	,00850
	80

	Residual
	-,06623
	,13455
	,00000
	,04866
	80

	Std. Predicted Value
	-5,705
	2,609
	,000
	1,000
	80

	Std. Residual
	-1,335
	2,712
	,000
	,981
	80

	a. Dependent Variable: DCA


Output SPSS 17 Modified-Jones German dataset:

	Descriptive Statistics

	
	Mean
	Std. Deviation
	N

	DCA
	-2,1360
	4,44916
	41

	Fixed_salary
	848657,8293
	5,52737E5
	41

	Annual_bonus
	1,7567E6
	1,38083E6
	41

	Total_cash
	2,6053E6
	1,81858E6
	41

	LTIP
	701668,1220
	6,72808E5
	41


	Model Summaryb

	Model
	R
	R Square
	Adjusted R Square
	Std. Error of the Estimate

	1
	,400a
	,160
	,092
	4,23967

	a. Predictors: (Constant), LTIP, Annual_bonus, Fixed_salary

	b. Dependent Variable: DCA


	Coefficientsa

	Model
	Unstandardized Coefficients
	Standardized Coefficients
	t
	Sig.
	95,0% Confidence Interval for B

	
	B
	Std. Error
	Beta
	
	
	Lower Bound
	Upper Bound

	1
	(Constant)
	-4,554
	1,270
	
	-3,586
	,001
	-7,128
	-1,981

	
	Fixed_salary
	1,180E-6
	,000
	,147
	,520
	,606
	,000
	,000

	
	Annual_bonus
	1,354E-6
	,000
	,420
	1,881
	,068
	,000
	,000

	
	LTIP
	-1,371E-6
	,000
	-,207
	-,767
	,448
	,000
	,000

	a. Dependent Variable: DCA


	Excluded Variablesb

	Model
	Beta In
	t
	Sig.
	Partial Correlation
	Collinearity Statistics

	
	
	
	
	
	Tolerance

	1
	Total_cash
	.a
	.
	.
	.
	,000

	a. Predictors in the Model: (Constant), LTIP, Annual_bonus, Fixed_salary

	b. Dependent Variable: DCA


	Residuals Statisticsa

	
	Minimum
	Maximum
	Mean
	Std. Deviation
	N

	Predicted Value
	-4,4159
	2,7590
	-2,1360
	1,78000
	41

	Residual
	-7,21543
	10,64694
	,00000
	4,07758
	41

	Std. Predicted Value
	-1,281
	2,750
	,000
	1,000
	41

	Std. Residual
	-1,702
	2,511
	,000
	,962
	41

	a. Dependent Variable: DCA


Output SPSS 17 Cash flow statement measure Dutch dataset:

	Descriptive Statistics

	
	Mean
	Std. Deviation
	N

	CF
	,0468
	,03995
	78

	Fixed_salary
	560565,5513
	3,21339E5
	78

	Annual_bonus
	426603,1282
	5,00902E5
	78

	Total_cash
	987168,6795
	8,03821E5
	78

	LTIP
	759545,9103
	1,07222E6
	78


	Model Summaryb

	Model
	R
	R Square
	Adjusted R Square
	Std. Error of the Estimate

	1
	,182a
	,033
	-,006
	,04007

	a. Predictors: (Constant), LTIP, Fixed_salary, Annual_bonus

	b. Dependent Variable: CF


	Coefficientsa

	Model
	Unstandardized Coefficients
	Standardized Coefficients
	t
	Sig.
	95,0% Confidence Interval for B


	
	B
	Std. Error
	Beta
	
	
	Lower Bound
	Upper Bound

	1
	(Constant)
	,037
	,012
	
	3,032
	,003
	,013
	,062

	
	Fixed_salary
	3,192E-8
	,000
	,257
	,917
	,362
	,000
	,000

	
	Annual_bonus
	-2,065E-9
	,000
	-,026
	-,092
	,927
	,000
	,000

	
	LTIP
	-9,835E-9
	,000
	-,264
	-1,487
	,141
	,000
	,000

	a. Dependent Variable: CF


	Excluded Variablesb

	Model
	Beta In
	t
	Sig.
	Partial Correlation
	Collinearity Statistics

	
	
	
	
	
	Tolerance

	1
	Total_cash
	.a
	.
	.
	.
	,000

	a. Predictors in the Model: (Constant), LTIP, Fixed_salary, Annual_bonus

	b. Dependent Variable: CF


	Residuals Statisticsa

	
	Minimum
	Maximum
	Mean
	Std. Deviation
	N

	Predicted Value
	,0064
	,0618
	,0468
	,00729
	78

	Residual
	-,05092
	,10145
	,00000
	,03928
	78

	Std. Predicted Value
	-5,544
	2,056
	,000
	1,000
	78

	Std. Residual
	-1,271
	2,532
	,000
	,980
	78

	a. Dependent Variable: CF


Output SPSS 17 Cash flow statement measure German dataset:

	Descriptive Statistics

	
	Mean
	Std. Deviation
	N

	CF
	3,9581
	2,31384
	41

	Fixed_salary
	840193,3415
	5,56415E5
	41

	Annual_bonus
	1,7583E6
	1,40229E6
	41

	Total_cash
	2,5985E6
	1,84086E6
	41

	LTIP
	814645,7317
	1,02412E6
	41


	Model Summaryb

	Model
	R
	R Square
	Adjusted R Square
	Std. Error of the Estimate

	1
	,531a
	,282
	,224
	2,03860

	a. Predictors: (Constant), LTIP, Fixed_salary, Annual_bonus

	b. Dependent Variable: CF


	Coefficientsa

	Model
	Unstandardized Coefficients
	Standardized Coefficients
	t
	Sig.
	95,0% Confidence Interval for B

	
	B
	Std. Error
	Beta
	
	
	Lower Bound
	Upper Bound

	1
	(Constant)
	3,784
	,587
	
	6,441
	,000
	2,594
	4,974

	
	Fixed_salary
	2,789E-6
	,000
	,671
	3,290
	,002
	,000
	,000

	
	Annual_bonus
	-9,637E-7
	,000
	-,584
	-2,825
	,008
	,000
	,000

	
	LTIP
	-5,829E-7
	,000
	-,258
	-1,529
	,135
	,000
	,000

	a. Dependent Variable: CF


	Excluded Variablesb

	Model
	Beta In
	t
	Sig.
	Partial Correlation
	Collinearity Statistics

	
	
	
	
	
	Tolerance

	1
	Total_cash
	.a
	.
	.
	.
	,000

	a. Predictors in the Model: (Constant), LTIP, Fixed_salary, Annual_bonus

	b. Dependent Variable: CF


	Residuals Statisticsa

	
	Minimum
	Maximum
	Mean
	Std. Deviation
	N

	Predicted Value
	-,0916
	6,7427
	3,9581
	1,22867
	41

	Residual
	-3,57013
	4,73690
	,00000
	1,96067
	41

	Std. Predicted Value
	-3,296
	2,266
	,000
	1,000
	41

	Std. Residual
	-1,751
	2,324
	,000
	,962
	41

	a. Dependent Variable: CF
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